U.S. Department of Justice **Bureau of Justice Statistics** 

112815

### Criminal Justice Information Policy

# Juvenile Records and Recordkeeping 112815 Systems

U.S. Department of Justice National Institute of Justice

This document has been reproduced exactly as received from the person or organization originating it. Points of view or opinions stated in this document are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of the National Institute of

Permission to reproduce this experiment material has been

granted by Public Domain/BJS U.S. Dept. of Justice

de correctiones

to the National Criminal Justice Reference Service (NCJRS).

Further reproduction outside of the NCJRS system requires permission of the difference of the differen

November 1988, NCJ-112815

NGJRS 15 1988 AGQUISITIONS

**U.S. Department of Justice** Bureau of Justice Statistics

Joseph M. Bessette Acting Director

Acknowledgments. This report was prepared by SEAR CH Group, Inc., Gary D. McAlvey, Chairman, and Gary R. Cooper, Executive Director. The project directors were Sheila J. Barton, Director, Law and Policy Program, and Thomas F. Wilson, Senior Writer and former Director, Law and Policy Program. Sheila J. Barton and Paul L. Woodard, Senior Counsel, prepared the report. The project was conducted under the direction of Carol G. Kaplan, Chief, Federal Statistics and Information Policy Branch, Bureau of Justice Statistics.

Report of work performed under BJS Grant No. 82-BJ-CX-0010, awarded to SEAR CH Group Inc., 925 Secret River Drive, Sacramento, California 95831. Contents of this document do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the Bureau of Justice Statistics or the U.S. Department of Justice.

Copyright <sup>©</sup> SEARCH Group, Inc. 1988

The U.S. Department of Justice authorizes any person to reproduce, publish, translate or otherwise use all or any part of the copyrighted material in this publication with the exception of those items indicating that they are copyrighted or reprinted by any source other than SEAR CH Group, Inc.

The Assistant Attorney General, Office of Justice Programs, coordinates the activities of the following program offices and bureaus: the Bureau of Justice Statistics, National Institute of Justice, Bureau of Justice Assistance, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, and the Office for Victims of Crime.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I:	INTRODUCTION	1
	Scope of the Report	1
	Evolution of the Confidentiality Controversy Study Methodology	2 
PART II:	Analysis of Survey Responses	7
	Fingerprinting of Juveniles	7
	Written Reports Relating to Juvenile Contacts	10
	Content of Juvenile Records	
	Sealing and Expungement of Juvenile Records Tracking Juvenile Histories Access to and Dissemination of Juvenile Records	12
	Tracking Juvenile Histories	
	Access to and Dissemination of Juvenile Records	19
	Audits of Records	
	Automated Recordkeeping Systems	19
PART III:	REVIEW OF JUVENILE RECORDS STATUTES	21
	The "Age" of Juvenile Delinquents	21
	Fingerprinting Juveniles	22
	Fingerprinting Juveniles Dissemination and Access to Unsealed Law Enforcement Records	24
	Sealing of Juvenile Records	
	Expungement of Juvenile Records	
	Detention Hearings	
	Content Of Juvenile Records	
PART IV:	CONCLUSIONS	
	n an the second sec 	
APPENDICES	S: The second	
Appe	ENDIX A: Responses To Law Enforcement Survey	33
APPE	ENDIX B: Confidentiality Recommendations of The National	
	Council of Juvenile and Family Court Judges Regardin The Juvenile Court and Serious Offenders (1984)	
	The Juvenne Court and Serious Offenders (1984)	
APPE	ENDIX C: Standards Relating to Juvenile Records and Information	
	Systems (1977)	
APPE	ENDIX D: Model Statute on Juvenile and Family Court	
· · · · · · · ·	Records (1980)	41
Appe	ENDIX E: Model Juvenile Delinquency Act (1987)	

	APPENDIX F:	Model Interagency Juvenile Record Statute of The National School Safety Center (1988)	.47
1 <sup>1</sup>	APPENDIX G:	Sample Forms	. 49
	APPENDIX H:	Age at Which Juvenile Status for Juvenile Delinquents Terminates	. 61
	APPENDIX I:	Statutory Authority to Fingerprint Juveniles	63
	Appendix J:	Statutory Provisions for Destruction and Retention of Fingerprint Records	65
	APPENDIX K:	Statutory Provisions for Dissemination and Access to Juvenile Law Enforcement Records	. 67
	APPENDIX L:	Sealing Juvenile Records	71
	APPENDIX M:	Expungement of Juvenile Records	. 75
FIGURI	ES:		
	FIGURE 1:	Circumstances in Which Juveniles May Be Fingerprinted	9
	FIGURE 2:	Records Subject to Sealing	. 14
	FIGURE 3:	Records Subject to Expungement	16
	FIGURE 4:	Age at Which Juvenile Status for Juvenile Delinquents Terminates	. 22
TABLE	S:		
	TABLE 1:	Law Enforcement Fingerprinting Practices	8
	TABLE 2:	Law Enforcement Juvenile Report Practices	11
	TABLE 3:	Law Enforcement Recordkeeping Practices	12
	TABLE 4:	Law Enforcement Sealing Practices	13
	TABLE 5:	Law Enforcement Expungement Practices	. 15
	TABLE 6:	Law Enforcement Tracking of Juvenile Histories	. 17
	TABLE 7:	Access to and Dissemination of Juvenile Records	18

iv

### EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Faced with the growing public demand for accountability from the juvenile justice system, policymakers and decisionmakers are developing recommendations, strategies, and program initiatives to modify the juvenile justice system and recordkeeping practices. As practitioners face pressures to lift the traditional confidentiality protections governing juvenile records, the practices surrounding the maintenance and use of the juvenile record will come under closer scrutiny.

This report describes a baseline study of juvenile records and recordkeeping systems. The emphasis of the study is on juvenile records and recordkeeping systems maintained by law enforcement agencies; additional information regarding juvenile court records and records maintained by state central repositories is included.

This study presents information about the basic nature and content of juvenile records and recordkeeping systems. A national survey was sent to 500 randomly selected law enforcement agencies in three population categories. In addition, surveys were sent to the state central criminal history repositories of the 50 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands. A third survey instrument was sent to the members of the Metropolitan Judges Association, who are the presiding judges of the 45 largest juvenile court jurisdictions in the nation.

The law enforcement survey addressed several areas, including fingerprinting practices, written reports of contacts with juveniles, the content of law enforcement records, sealing and expungement of juvenile records, tracking juvenile histories, access to and dissemination of juvenile records, audits of juvenile records, and automated recordkeeping systems. The repository and judicial surveys addressed similar areas of concern. The results of the study revealed that the usefulness of juvenile records maintained by law enforcement agencies may be seriously limited by the quality of the records. Fewer than one quarter of the agencies have policies that require that all contacts with juveniles be reported in writing. Still fewer have audit procedures for ensuring the accuracy of the records which are created. Court dispositions are frequently lacking. Only about half of the agencies have procedures for obtaining either court or prosecutor dispositions, and procedures for review by the record subject or his legal representative exist in only about half of the agencies.

The study also showed that complete juvenile history records are available in relatively few cases. Although approximately one-third of the law enforcement agencies forward arrest records to a central repository, less than half have the ability to obtain a full juvenile history record. In cases where full histories are available, they are obtained by procedures ranging from requesting the records from a state central repository to compiling a history based on informal telephone calls to other agencies.

Fingerprinting of juveniles is considered one of the most intrusive procedures in the juvenile justice process, and as a result, remains subject to a number of restrictions in most jurisdictions. Approximately one quarter of the law enforcement agencies fingerprint juveniles, and many of these are subsequently sealed or expunged, typically pursuant to statutory mandate or a court order.

Sealing and expungement, the two methods of ensuring confidentiality of records, continue to be widespread practices throughout the juvenile justice system. Three-quarters of the law enforcement agencies have sealing and/or expungement policies. Records which are generally sealed or expunged include the arrest records, fingerprints, photographs, investigative or incident reports, and name index references. Similarly, the majority of repositories which maintain juvenile records have sealing or expungement records, and virtually all of the judicial respondents indicated that records are sealed or expunged under some circumstances.

The content of both law enforcement and court juvenile records consistently includes a reference to penal code terminology when describing the basis of a juvenile's misconduct. The judicial respondents unanimously indicated that juvenile delinquency petitions in their jurisdictions utilize penal code terminology or other terminology which specifically indicates the type of conduct that is the basis for a petition. Similarly, most law enforcement agencies (87%) responded that penal code terminology is used in juvenile arrest records to indicate the conduct that is the basis of the arrest.

The contemplation of significant policy changes in the juvenile justice system necessarily requires an examination of juvenile records and recordkeeping systems which are now in place. The information contained in this report is designed to inform policy decisions and enhance proper management of juvenile records.

Part I of this report provides the historical background for the creation of the juvenile record, its traditional protections and the evolution of controversy over the confidentiality of the juvenile record. The study methodology is also set forth in Part I.

Part II of the report presents the analyses of the survey responses. The areas covered in the law enforcement survey analysis are noted above. The judicial and repository surveys were not as exhaustive as the law enforcement, and results from each of those surveys are also included in Part II where topically appropriate.

Part III contains a review of the statutes affecting the records and recordkeeping practices in each state, the District of Columbia, and the federal jurisdiction. The review includes a summary of statutory provisions relating to the age of juvenile delinquents, fingerprinting juveniles, dissemination and access to unsealed law enforcement juvenile records, sealing of juvenile records, expungement of juvenile records, detention hearings, and the content of juvenile records.

# *part i* INTRODUCTION

#### SCOPE OF THE REPORT

The focus of this report is a baseline study of juvenile justice record systems and of the content of juvenile justice records, with an emphasis on law enforcement records, that is, records on juveniles maintained by police departments and other law enforcement agencies.<sup>1</sup> This study was designed to provide basic information concerning what is contained in juvenile records and record systems, where the records are maintained, how long the records are maintained, the completeness and accuracy of records, what record systems are in place to facilitate the sharing of juvenile records, and the extent to which juvenile records are shared outside the juvenile justice system. The study has attempted to ascertain the basic nature and content of juvenile justice records and record systems in order to provide the kinds of preliminary information essential for conducting more specific and detailed empirical research and for assisting policymakers and decisionmakers in developing recommendations, strategies, and program initiatives in juvenile justice.

The study focuses primarily on juvenile records maintained by law enforcement agencies, because less appears to be known about the content of police records and their importance in the juvenile justice system than about other records such as the juvenile court records. The assumptions of the study are that police records are the initial records of entry in the juvenile process, that they are the records used in the adult system more frequently than other juvenile records, and that they are the records most likely to find their way into the noncriminal justice sector.

#### HISTORICAL OVERVIEW OF JUVENILE COURTS

The history and theories of the juvenile court movement have been traced in legal opinions and reviewed throughout juvenile justice literature.<sup>2</sup> For purposes of this report, it is important to briefly examine the philosophical roots of the juvenile justice system and its offender-based, rather than offense-based, orientation.

The removal of children from the adult criminal justice system resulted in large part from a need seen by reformers to extricate children from the harshness of the punishment meted out to older offenders.<sup>3</sup> With the establishment of the first separate juvenile court in Illinois in 1899 came the notion that whether they were guilty of noncriminal indiscretions, such as truancy, or of crimes, errant children were not to be subjected to criminal processes.<sup>4</sup> The question in dealing with children would henceforth be,

not, Has this boy or girl committed a specific wrong, but What is he, how has he become what he is, and what had best be done in his interest and in the interest of the state to save him from a downward career.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>4</sup> Id. at 12-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The terms "law enforcement agency" and "police" are used interchangeably throughout this report to indicate any law enforcement agency dealing with juveniles, including police departments, sheriffs, state patrols, constables, or any other state or local agency charged with the responsibility of patrolling the streets and communities of any particular jurisdiction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>See, e.g., Id. at 14-24, and R. Belair, Criminal Justice Information Policy: Privacy and Juvenile Justice Records, Bureau of Justice Statistics, U.S. Department of Justice, 1982, pp. 11-14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Belair, supra at 11-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>J. Mack, "The Juvenile Court," 23 Harv. L. Rev. 119-20 (1909).

All fifty states eventually followed the lead of the Illinois movement and enacted laws to deal with juveniles in systems separate and apart from adults.<sup>6</sup> Basic to all of these juvenile codes was the notion that treatment and rehabilitation, not punishment, were the goals of the juvenile courts, and that such treatment and rehabilitation were to be accomplished by the court's assuming the role of the child's parents to determine the best interests of the child.<sup>7</sup>

In time, juvenile court reformers came to acknowledge that if the goals of the system were to be realized without the legal and social stigmas which attach as a result of the child's juvenile court involvement, a cloak of confidentiality surrounding the proceedings was required.<sup>8</sup> Confidentiality was necessary, it was postulated, to insure that juvenile court proceedings would not become the basis for criminal records which would be used to harass juvenile subjects when they became adults.<sup>9</sup>

As the due process model of the juvenile court evolved and the juvenile court moved procedurally closer to its adult counterpart,<sup>10</sup> confidentiality was

<sup>6</sup> P. Tappan, Juvenile Delinquency at 172-73 (1949).

<sup>7</sup> The doctrine of *parens patriae* originated as an English equity doctrine during the feudal period. The doctrine embraces the notion that the state shall act in the stead of a child's parents seeking to do what is in the best interests of the child. See S. Sinclair, "The Use of Juvenile Adjucations for Impeachment and Sentencing," 22 Santa Clara L. Rev. 419, n. 2 (1982).

<sup>8</sup> Belair, supra at 14.

<sup>9</sup> See Sinclair, supra at 421.

 $^{10}$  The first major case moving the juvenile court toward a due process model was Kent v. United States, 383 U.S. 541 (1966). The issue presented to the court in Kent was whether a 16-year old was entitled to procedural safeguards prior to a determination to transfer his case to adult court. The court affirmed that a juvenile was entitled to assistance of counsel, a hearing, and that the juvenile's attorney was entitled to review the records relied upon for the motion to transfer jurisdiction. Following on the heels of Kent, the court decided in In re Gault, 387 U.S. 1 (1966), that in addition to the rights set forth in the earlier Kent decision, that a juvenile was entitled to notice of the charges brought against him and further was accorded the right to confront and crossexamine witnesses testifying against him. In another landmark case, In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 361 (1970), the (footnote continued)

increasingly viewed not only as a prerequisite to achieving the goals envisioned by the court reformers, but also as a procedural right to be extended to the accused juvenile. Confidentiality was regarded as consistent with both the treatment and procedural goals of the juvenile court.

Today every state has adopted statutes dealing with the confidentiality of juvenile records.<sup>11</sup> Most have also enacted laws providing for the sealing and purging of juvenile records, and some have provided that juvenile records must be maintained separately from adult criminal records and be subject to enhanced security protections.<sup>12</sup> These and other provisions of state law dealing with juvenile records are summarized in a later section of this report.

EVOLUTION OF THE CONFIDENTIALITY CONTROVERSY

In recent years, however, the once near-universal support for confidentiality protections for juveniles has begun to erode. Criticism of confidentiality laws and policies and of related laws and policies providing for the sealing and expungement of juvenile records has been fueled in part by two developments. One is the re-emergence of a re-tributive penal philosophy known as "just deserts," which focuses on the criminal act and the offender's culpability and encourages the imposition of punishment suitably fitted to the crime committed.<sup>13</sup> By the 1960s, this approach was largely

court held that the burden of proof in a juvenile delinquency case must be "beyond a reasonable doubt". Later cases continued to bestow upon juveniles the same rights accorded adults in criminal proceedings. See, e.g., Breed v. Jones, 421 U.S. 519, 541 (1975), applying double jeopardy safeguards. But see McKeiver v. Pennsylvania, 403 U.S. 528, 550 (1970), denying the right of juveniles to a jury trial.

<sup>11</sup> SEARCH, State Law and the Confidentiality of Juvenile Records, Bureau of Justice Statistics, U.S. Department of Justice 1 (1982).

12 Id.

<sup>13</sup> The philosophy of "just deserts" is a sentencing theory which actually limits the power of the sovereign to impose punishment only on those who *deserve* punishment and only to the extent that it may be justifiably imposed. See D. (footnote continued)

displaced by the so-called "treatment" model of correctional theory, which focused on the offender rather than the criminal act and stressed rehabilitation rather than punishment.<sup>14</sup>

The retributive approach regained support in the adult criminal justice system in the 1970s, however, and was largely responsible for the rash of modifications in sentencing approach seen in recent years, such as fixed term, mandatory, and presumptive sentences, as well as the abolition of parole.<sup>15</sup> This trend has begun to spill over into the juvenile justice system and its effects have been seen in such areas as the lowering of the age at which juveniles may be tried as adults,<sup>16</sup> an increase in the types of crimes for which transfer to adult court is permitted,<sup>17</sup> and the call for the abolition of the two-tier juvenile-adult justice system.<sup>18</sup>

In a "just deserts" model, the repeat offender, or the one who has committed a particularly heinous offense, is viewed as more culpable and, therefore, more deserving of punishment. Increasingly, confidentiality of juvenile records and of juvenile proceedings has been perceived as having generated inequities in the treatment of dangerous and repeat offenders. The sealing, and particularly the expungement, of the juvenile records of such offenders in effect wipes their slates clean when they become adults and enables them to enter the adult criminal justice system as first offenders.

A second development underlying the trend away from strict confidentiality protections for juvenile proceedings and juvenile records is that recent research projects indicate that a history of involvement in the juvenile justice system may be

Roberts, "The Changing Structure of Criminal Sentencing," 18 Land and Water Rev. 592, 603-04 (1983).

<sup>14</sup> R. Clark, Crime in America (1970).

<sup>15</sup> See discussion in Roberts, supra at 608-19.

<sup>16</sup> See, e.g., N.Y. FAM. CT. ACT § 301.2.

17 Id.

<sup>18</sup> M. Wolfgang, "Abolish the Juvenile Court System," California Lawyer, November, 1982 at 12. predictive of future involvement in crime.<sup>19</sup> This research has spawned proposals for new prediction-based approaches to sentencing referred to generally as "selective incapacitation."<sup>20</sup>

Unlike the "just deserts" approach, which focuses retroactively on the offender and the criminal act and seeks the imposition of punishment fitted to the crime committed, selective incapacitation seeks to predict the occurrence of criminal acts and to prevent them by imposing punishment on those deemed highly likely to commit them. The research suggests that there exists a small core of recalcitrant and very active offenders who are responsible for a disproportionately large share of crime, and that generally these individuals have histories of early and frequent encounters with juvenile authorities.<sup>21</sup> Aided in part by access to juvenile history records, criminal courts may be able to identify and imprison these individuals early in their adult criminal careers, resulting in a more effective use of law enforcement resources and a reduction in crime.

Despite their differences in emphasis and approach, the two models depend upon the existence and availability of comprehensive juvenile history records for effective implementation. Thus, an understanding of the nature and content of juvenile records and of the laws and policies that govern their maintenance and dissemination is central to effective evaluation of these and other proposals for reform of the juvenile system. This study was designed to provide some of the basic information

19 See, e.g., D. Farrington, Further Analyses of a Longitudinal Survey of Crime and Delinquency (1983) and J. McCord, "Some Child-rearing Antecedents of Criminal Behavior in Adult Men," 37 Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 1477 (1979).

20 Selective incapacitation is a recognized sentencing goal of the criminal justice system premised upon the belief that a criminal must be restrained or isolated from society to prevent his continuing a course of criminal activity. See D. Roberts, supra at 598.

<sup>21</sup> See, e.g., M. Wolfgang, R. Figlio, & T. Sellin, Delinquency in a Birth Cohort (1972). The research suggests that, in addition to juvenile delinquency histories, other factors such as drug abuse may point to a probability of adult criminal careers; and 1 Criminal Careers and "Career Criminals" (A. Blum-stein, et al. eds. 1986). about juvenile records and record systems necessary for such evaluations.

#### STUDY METHODOLOGY

The study reported in this paper consisted of three phases: (1) surveys of law enforcement agencies, state criminal history record repositories, and juvenile courts, (2) research in state and federal legal codes, and (3) a review of the secondary literature concerning juvenile records.

The survey focused primarily on law enforcement agencies, since the report targets primarily records created and maintained by these agencies. Law enforcement records on juveniles frequently are not subject to the same statutory mandates and limitations as court records. As a result, there is often a lack of uniformity in recordkeeping practices regarding juvenile records among law enforcement agencies even within the same state. How the records are created, when they are created, what they contain, the length of retention, and where the records are retained, if they are retained at all, are some of the decisions which are typically left to the discretion of individual law enforcement agencies-all of which have an impact on the use and availability of juvenile history records. Since the point of origin for a juvenile history record is at the law enforcement level of the juvenile justice system, that is the area of concentration in this study. The utility of the record for whatever purpose is necessarily dependent upon the accuracy, completeness and clarity of the information contained in the record and the restraints placed upon its dissemination.

Survey forms were sent to 500 law enforcement agencies throughout the country. Two hundred fifty survey forms were sent to all law enforcement agencies in large jurisdictions (population of 100,000 or more); 200 survey forms were sent to agencies in metropolitan and suburban/mediumsized jurisdictions (population of 10,000-100,000); and 50 were sent to agencies in small jurisdictions (serving counties of a population of 25,000 or less). Responses were received from 229 agencies. Of these, 123 were from large jurisdictions, 93 were from medium-sized jurisdictions and 13 were from small jurisdictions. The responses represented jurisdictions from 43 states.<sup>22</sup> For a breakdown of the number of respondents from each state, see Appendix A.

A second survey instrument, intended to provide a cursory view of juvenile record systems at the state level, was sent to the 50 state repositories charged with the responsibility of maintaining statewide criminal history record systems. Survey forms of 31 states were included in the analysis, of which 13 indicated that they maintain juvenile records in their statewide files.

A third survey, intended to provide a brief examination of record maintenance practices of the juvenile courts in the largest jurisdictions in the country, was sent to each member of the Metropolitan Judges Association of the National Council of Juvenile and Family Court Judges. The Association consists of the presiding judges of the 45 largest juvenile court jurisdictions in the nation. Twentyfour responses were received, representing 23 states.<sup>23</sup> The survey instrument sought information about the legal records on juveniles maintained by these courts. Legal records are that part of the formal or official court records containing such documents as the delinquency petition, judicial findings, adjudications and dispositions.<sup>24</sup> Ir was assumed that the legal records of juvenile courts were the records with the most utility in the adult criminal justice system, as well as in the noncriminal justice sector, that legal records would have the most impact on the record subject, and

23 The states represented were Alabama, Arizona, California, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Louisiana, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nevada, New Mexico, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas and Washington.

<sup>24</sup> Legal records are to be distinguished from the social records which may also from time to time be found in the court records and include such documents as treatment information, copies of medical or mental examinations, social histories, and family background information.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Responses may have been received which were completed by other than a law enforcement agency, and therefore were deemed inappropriate for analysis in this part of the study. States from which no law enforcement agencies responded were Alaska, Hawaii, North Dakota, Vermont, West Virginia and Wyoming, as well as the District of Columbia.

that legal records were the most quantifiable and statistically useful part of the juvenile record.<sup>25</sup>

In addition to the described surveys, a statutory review of the confidentiality of juvenile records was conducted, again concentrating on law enforcement records. The review was intended to provide information on the statutory requirements and limits affecting juvenile justice records, including the maximum age limits for jurisdiction over juvenile delinquency petitions, the requirement for detention hearings and the time limits for those hearings, the authority of law enforcement agencies to fingerprint juveniles, sealing and expungement procedures, permissible dissemination of law enforcement records on juveniles, and other notable procedures, such as self-auditing and nullification of sealing orders. To complete this portion of the study, a review was conducted of the statutes of each of the 50 states and the District of Columbia. and of relevant provisions of the United States Code governing federal jurisdiction. The results of this statutory review are set out in Part III of this report.

Finally, to supplement the information obtained from the surveys and the statutory examination, the secondary literature concerning confidentiality of juvenile records was also reviewed. This review included a consideration of Model Acts and model standards that have been developed by organizations interested in recordkeeping practices relating to juveniles. These models and standards are set out in Appendices B through F.

<sup>25</sup> The law enforcement survey consisted of 48 questions, many of which were multi-part and open-ended. The repository survey consisted of 10 questions, again some of which were multi-part or open-ended. The judicial survey consisted of 13 questions, again containing multi-part and open-ended questions. Copies of the complete survey instruments entitled, "Juvenile Justice Records Survey" (specify which one) may be obtained by contacting Sheila J. Barton, Director, Law and Policy Program, SEARCH Group, Inc.

### PART II

## ANALYSIS OF SURVEY RESPONSES

The survey instrument sent to law enforcement agencies sought information regarding agency policies in eight general areas of concern relating to juvenile records:

- 1. Fingerprinting of Juveniles
- 2. Written Reports Relating to Juvenile Contacts
- 3. Content of Law Enforcement Records on Juveniles
- 4. Sealing and Expungement of Juvenile Records
- 5. Tracking Juvenile Histories
- 6. Access to and Dissemination of Juvenile Records
- 7. Audits of Juvenile Records
- 8. Automated Recordkeeping Systems

Since the law enforcement survey instrument was the most extensive, the analysis in this part of the report follows the format of that instrument and is organized under the headings set out above. Information obtained from the other two surveys is included at the appropriate points in the discussion.<sup>26</sup>

#### FINGERPRINTING OF JUVENILES

A vital component of any criminal or juvenile history system is the fingerprint record. Fingerprints provide law enforcement agencies with a basis for establishing positive identification of record subjects. The criminal activity of an individual can be linked by the process of comparing fingerprints taken at the time of a previous law enforcement contact with those produced at a current contact. Fingerprints, however, along with photographs, traditionally have been viewed as the most intrusive actions involved in a juvenile's contact with the justice system; as a result, they are frequently regulated by statute. (See Part III)

The maintenance and retention of juvenile fingerprint records also has confidentiality implications if the records are maintained with adult fingerprint records or if the records are forwarded to a central repository and retained beyond the age of juvenile court jurisdiction.<sup>27</sup> On the other hand, if juvenile fingerprint records are required to be destroyed or access and exchange of fingerprint information is limited, there may be significant impact on the ability to compile an accurate juvenile history record and to effectively search record systems.

The vast majority of law enforcement agencies responding to the survey<sup>28</sup> indicated that they have

<sup>27</sup>A central repository is that centralized agency which collects criminal history record information on individuals consisting of identifiable descriptions and notations of arrests, detentions, indictments, information, or other formal criminal charges, and any disposition arising therefrom, sentencing, correctional supervision and release. Central repositories also typically collect identification information, such as fingerprint records, to the extent that the information is related to criminal activity.

<sup>28</sup> Percentages throughout this report are based upon the number of respondents who answered the question under discussion. Not all respondents answered all of the survey questions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> The survey instrument sent to state record repositories sought information concerning: (1) maintenance of juvenile records, (2) content of juvenile records, (3) dissemination and security and (4) sealing and expungement. The survey instrument sent to the juvenile courts sought information concerning: (1) fingerprinting of juveniles, (2) automation of recordkeeping, (3) content of juvenile records, (4) sealing and expungement, (5) tracking of juvenile histories and (6) dissemination of juvenile court records.

written policies governing the fingerprinting of juveniles. See Table 1. These policies are most frequently based upon state statutes, while some jurisdictions have policies based upon agency administrative standards. In addition, agencies have also formulated policies based on state regulations,

Table 1 Law Enforcement Fingerprinting	Practices	
	Responding Jurisdi <u>Number</u>	ctions <u>%*</u>
Have written policies governing fingerprinting of juveniles	185	82
based on state statutes		67
based upon administrative standards		40
based on state regulations		14
based on court orders		12
based on city or county ordinances		5
Allow fingerprinting of juveniles	207	92
—for specific offenses		59
limited to certain ages		29
requires court approval		20
fingerprint all juveniles arrested		14
fingerprint for comparison with latents		12
fingerprint for further investigation		5
—officer's discretion		· · 3
other		6
Juvenile fingerprints maintained separately from adults	162	72
-based on state statute		77
based on agency administrative standards		28
based on state regulations		15
based on court order		9
based on city or county ordinance		2
Juvenile fingerprints must be returned or destroyed	176	77
—if no petition is filed		24
when outcome of petition is favorable		27
pursuant to court order		30
negative comparison to latent prints		6
reaching the age of majority		4
-reaching other statutorily defined age		3
-expiration of specified period of time		3

affirmatively. The other percentage figures are used only on those respondents who answered the question affirmatively.



court orders, and city or county ordinances.<sup>29</sup>

Ninety-two percent of respondents indicated that their policies permit law enforcement officers to fingerprint juveniles in at least some circumstances. The circumstances under which respondents indicated that fingerprinting is permissible include specific offense types, typically for offenses which would be felonies if committed by an adult; juveniles of certain ages; for comparison with latent fingerprints; for the purpose of further investigation; and other circumstances, such as the probability that the juvenile is a repeat offender or if the juvenile and his parent consent.<sup>30</sup> One of

<sup>29</sup> The format of this answer is repeated several times throughout the survey. The inquiry provides a multiple choice answer, however, more than one choice may be selected; for example, a law enforcement agency may have a policy for fingerprinting juveniles which is based on both the state statute and an agency administrative standard. The total for this particular question, therefore, generally will not equal 100 percent.

<sup>30</sup> This is an open-ended question for which the answers are not mutually exclusive. For example, a given jurisdiction may have the authority to fingerprint for both comparison with latent fingerprints and for juveniles alleged to have committed certain offenses. The responses, therefore, will not equal 100 percent. Many of the questions in the survey were of this type, as will be noted throughout this report.

9

five jurisdictions require court approval for fingerprinting of juveniles, while slightly fewer jurisdictions grant the arresting officer broad discretion to fingerprint all juveniles who are arrested.<sup>31</sup> See Figure 1.

In jurisdictions where fingerprinting is authorized, an average of approximately one-quarter (27%) of the juveniles arrested are actually fingerprinted.<sup>32</sup> Even in jurisdictions where fingerprinting is authorized, some agencies report that no juveniles are fingerprinted, while others fingerprint all arrested juveniles.

 $^{32}$  The average was computed by dividing the sum of the agencies who responded by the number of respondents. Agencies for whom this question was not applicable were excluded from the computation. This procedure was used throughout this report.

 $<sup>^{31}</sup>$  In the context of this survey, "arrest" also includes any "custodial detention" which by statute in some states may not be deemed to be an arrest in the same sense as an arrest of an adult. See, e.g., S.D. COMPILED LAWS § 26-8-19.7. This interpretation is applicable throughout this survey when reference is made to a juvenile being "arrested" or "under arrest" or similar terminology which indicates arrest or custody.

Juvenile fingerprint files of law enforcement agencies must be maintained separately from adult fingerprints in approximately three-quarters of the responding jurisdictions. This requirement is predominantly based upon state statute, though other jurisdictions report this requirement as originating from agency administrative standards, or state regulations, court order, or city/county ordinance.<sup>33</sup>

Only about one-third of the responding jurisdictions (a total of 76) forward juvenile fingerprints to a central repository. Of these, the largest proportion (44 percent) forward fingerprints to a state central repository, while in others the prints go to a county repository (17 percent) or are maintained by the juvenile court (16 percent), by probation agencies (8 percent), by the prosecutor's office (1 percent), or by some other repository (13 percent).

Three out of four respondent law enforcement agencies reported that juvenile fingerprints must be returned to the subject or destroyed at some point, depending upon the disposition of the case. See Table 1. Approximately one-quarter of the jurisdictions require the return or destruction of juvenile fingerprints when no petition is filed, while an approximately equal proportion require destruction or return when the outcome of a filed petition is favorable to the juvenile. Nearly onethird authorize destruction or return of fingerprints pursuant to a court order. Various other circumstances calling for the destruction or return of juvenile fingerprints include negative comparison to latent prints, the juvenile reaching the age of majority, or reaching some other statutorily defined age, or after the expiration of a specified period of time.<sup>34</sup>

In response to the survey instrument sent to juvenile courts in large metropolitan jurisdictions, 18 courts (75% of those responding) indicated that juveniles are fingerprinted in their jurisdictions. The circumstances under which fingerprinting is authorized include commission of certain offenses in 36% of the jurisdictions, with court approval in

<sup>33</sup> See supra, n. 24.

36% of the jurisdictions, based upon the age of the offender in 9% of the jurisdictions, for all arrests (5%), upon the officer's discretion (5%) and for investigative purposes (5%).

If the records of juveniles are to be relied upon in the adult criminal justice system, positive identification becomes an important issue. Juvenile history records which are unsupported by fingerprints are of questionable credibility if they are to be used in making such decisions as charging, setting bail, or enhanced sentencing.

### WRITTEN REPORTS RELATING TO JUVENILE CONTACTS

A patrol officer making contact with a juvenile generally has considerable discretion as to whether to "write-up" the juvenile, and thus, begin a juvenile history for the individual.<sup>35</sup> This discretion may often be exercised in favor of the juvenile, especially for the first contact, or even the first few contacts. The result may be that the juvenile actually has had much more involvement with the justice system than any *written* record or search of a juvenile history will reveal. Consequently, a review of juvenile histories may not give an accurate picture of a particular individual's past involvement with law enforcement authorities.

The survey results tend to bear out this assumption. Approximately one-quarter of the law enforcement agencies responding indicated that their policies require written reports to be filed for all contacts with juveniles, even in cases in which the contact does not result in an arrest or detention. See Table 2. In the other jurisdictions, the decision as to whether to write a report is left to the discretion of the law enforcement officer. In nearly three-quarters of the responding jurisdictions a written policy governs the filing of reports on juvenile contacts, usually based upon agency administrative standards. The policies are also based upon state statute in some jurisdictions, and in oth-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> This calls for a non-mutually exclusive answer; the percentages will not total 100 percent. See supra, n. 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Much research has been done exploring the factors besides delinquent behavior, such as a child's associations with juvenile delinquents, which increase the likelihood of arrest of a juvenile. *See, e.g., M. Morash, "Establishment of* a Juvenile Police Record," 22 *CRIMINOLOGY* at 98, February, 1984.

	Respo	onding Jurisdic <u>Number</u>	ctions <u>%</u> *
Have policies which <i>require</i> written reports on <i>all</i> contacts with juveniles		51	23
Have written policies re: reports on juvenile contacts —based upon agency administrative standards		165	72 81
<ul> <li>—based on state statutes</li> <li>—based on state regulations</li> <li>—based on city or county ordinance</li> </ul>			38 14 12
-based on court orders			4
Police reports indicate specific conduct of juvenile		182	80

### Table 2Law Enforcement Juvenile Report Practices

\* The bold figures above represent the percentages of all respondents who answered the question affirmatively. The other percentage figures are based only on those respondents who answered the question affirmatively.

ers upon city or county ordinance, state regulations, or court order.<sup>36</sup>

The survey results, on the other hand, reveal that in a majority of cases where reports are written, the reports indicate the specific type of conduct that was the basis for the contact. Four of five law enforcement agencies responding indicated that police reports of contacts with juveniles do indicate the specific conduct that caused the encounter, even in instances where no arrest is made. In most of these agencies (85%), the officers are provided with prepared forms for reporting such contacts. See Appendix G, sample form G.1.

#### CONTENT OF JUVENILE RECORDS

Because juvenile delinquency proceedings are not considered criminal proceedings and the juvenile is "adjudicated" for his conduct rather than found "guilty" of a crime, the translation from juvenile terminology into comparable adult terminology for purposes of generating a "criminal" history of the subject may be difficult. The extent to which the conduct of a juvenile may be equated with the conduct of an adult offender is directly related to the content of the report which is created at the juvenile level. If the juvenile record is couched in the same or similar terminology as an adult record, the picture of any given offender's criminal involvement may be drawn more easily for such purposes as selective incapacitation or other sentencing decisions.<sup>37</sup>

<sup>37</sup> For those who oppose breaching the confidentiality of the juvenile record, simply using the same penal code terminology in both the adult system and the juvenile system does not resolve the issue of making the juvenile record available to criminal courts. Other factors to be considered before the juvenile record is accepted on its face in the adult court are whether the juvenile was accorded due process when the record was created, whether the juvenile was placed in any treatment program as a result of the conduct and the result of the treatment received, and since juveniles generally commit crimes in groups, the degree of involvement of the subject in the conduct which was the basis of the record. R. Powell, J., "SEARCH FORUM: On the Use of Juvenile Records in Criminal Court Selective Incapacitation Determinations," INTERFACE at 9, Spring 1985.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> See supra, n. 24.

	Responding Jurisdi	<b>Responding Jurisdictions</b>		
	Number	<u>%*</u>		
Use penal code terminology in arrest records	195	87		
Use penal code terminology in delinquency petitions	203	93		
Have procedures to obtain disposition information from prosecutors or courts	114	50		

Of the law enforcement agencies that responded to the survey, 195 (87%) indicated that they utilize penal code terminology or section numbers in juvenile arrest records to indicate the conduct that was the basis for the arrest. See Table 3. In the other jurisdictions, the conduct is described in other terms or by use of code systems unique to the juvenile system, although in some cases the terminology used indicates the unlawful conduct involved (for example, "delinquency—auto theft").

Nine of ten law enforcement agencies responding to the survey indicated that penal code terminology is utilized in juvenile delinquency petitions in their jurisdictions to describe the conduct that is the basis for the petition. In half of the jurisdictions the law enforcement agencies indicated that they have procedures for obtaining disposition information from prosecutors or courts for entry in their own records. Based upon survey responses, an average of 42% of arrest records maintained by the respondents contain the final juvenile court dispositions.<sup>38</sup> A sizeable majority of the respondents (63%) indicated that the form and terminology of the final findings and adjudications of the juvenile courts enable them to record a disposition for each of the charges on their arrest records.

The responses are generally consistent with responses received from juvenile court judges. Of the 24 courts that responded, 16 (66%) indicted that information about juvenile court adjudications is provided to the police so that dispositions may be recorded in their records. All of the juvenile courts responding to the survey indicated that the juvenile delinquency petitions filed in their courts utilize penal code terminology or other terminology which specifically indicated the type of conduct that is the basis for a petition. In 19 jurisdictions (79%), the adjudication indicates a finding on each charge contained in the petition. In the remaining jurisdictions, the adjudication indicates which charge is the basis for the adjudication.

#### SEALING AND EXPUNGEMENT OF JUVENILE RECORDS

Sealing and expungement are the most efficient methods for ensuring the confidentiality of juvenile records.<sup>39</sup> Both procedures, however, necessarily

<sup>39</sup> Sealing a record in the context of this survey is interpreted to mean that the file is removed from the usual juvenile file and secured in files with restricted access. Sealing is to be distinguished from expungement, which in the context of this survey is interpreted to mean physically destroying all trace of the record.

<sup>38</sup> See supra, n. 27.

	Responding Jurisdi	
	Number	<u>%</u>
Have policies for sealing juvenile records	168	75
—based on state statutes	100	4
—based on court order		30
based on agency administrative standard		22
—based on state regulations	:	
—based on city or county ordinance		
Conditions under which records are most frequently sealed:		
—pursuant to court order		50
—juvenile reaching age of majority		23
-expiration of specified period of time		1
-expiration of "clean record" period		
—juvenile reaching other specific age		,
Sealing only pursuant to court order		53
Sealing automatic under specified circumstances		10
Combination of automatic and by court order		
Records subject to sealing provisions:		
arrest records		. 7(
—photographs		6
—fingerprints		6
—investigative records		- 59
-master name index reference		5
		19

### Table 4Law Enforcement Sealing Practices

affect the ability to compile complete and accurate juvenile-criminal history records.

question affirmatively.

Of law enforcement agencies responding to the survey, three-quarters indicated that they have policies for sealing juvenile records. See Table 4. In most of those jurisdictions, the basis for the policy is a state statute. The policy is based upon court order in over one-third of the agencies. Agency administrative standards are the basis for the policy in approximately one-quarter of the jurisdictions, while others are based upon state regulations or upon city/county ordinance.<sup>40</sup>

Records are sealed most frequently pursuant to a court order. Records are also sealed in approximately one-fourth of the jurisdictions when the

40 See supra, n. 24.



juvenile reaches the age of majority or when the juvenile reaches some other age, ranging from age 17 to age 20. Records are also sealed upon the expiration of a specified period, the expiration of the court's jurisdiction, the expiration of a clean record period following adjudication, and adjudication for specific, enumerated offenses. A minor number of the jurisdictions (1%) also require that there be no pending proceedings for criminal acts or other petitions for juvenile delinquency at the time of the sealing order. In a few jurisdictions (.5%), there are also policies for sealing juvenile records when the record subject dies or within a specified period following the death of the record subject.

In most jurisdictions, the sealing of records takes place only when ordered by the court. In some, sealing under the specified circumstances is automatic. In still others, sealing occurs under some circumstances automatically and under other circumstances when ordered by the court. Records which are sealed by the respondents include arrest records, photographs, fingerprints, investigative records, the master name index reference, and other records which are created on juveniles. See Figure 2. Some jurisdictions (12%) seal all references to the juvenile, including all of the above.<sup>41</sup>

Expungement, like sealing, enhances the confidentiality of the juvenile record. In most cases, the effect of expungement, where authorized, is that the juvenile proceeding will be deemed never to have occurred, and the juvenile may respond accordingly to all who inquire.<sup>42</sup> Since expungement results in the destruction of the record, any subsequent juvenile or criminal history would necessarily be devoid of any reference to the conduct which was the basis of the expungement.

41 The analysis here does not necessarily explain what does *not* happen in a particular jurisdiction. For example, a jurisdiction may indicate that fingerprints are not included in the documents which are sealed, either because the jurisdiction is permitted to withhold juvenile fingerprints from a sealed file, *or* because the jurisdiction is not authorized or does not fingerprint juveniles, and therefore, does not have any fingerprint files to seal.

42 SEARCH, supra at 10.

	400	
Have policies for expunging juvenile records	180	79
based on state statutes		47
based on court orders		34
based on agency administrative standards		32
—based on state regulations		8
based on city or county relations		4
Conditions under which records are most frequently expun	ged:	
pursuant to court order		61
juvenile reaching age of majority		16
expiration of specified period of time		. 9
—juvenile reaching other specific age		7
expiration of "clean record" period		4
adjudication for specific, enumerated offenses		4
-expiration of court's jurisdiction		2
other		6
Expunged only pursuant to court order		52
Expungement automatic under specified circumstances		18
Combination of automatic and by court order		8
Records subject to expungement provisions:		
-arrest records		76
-master name index reference		66
—photographs		65
fingerprints		64
		57
other records		12

Table 5 Law Enforcement Expungement Practices

Most of the law enforcement agencies responding to the survey (79%) have policies for expunging juvenile records. See Table 5. Again, the policies most frequently are based upon state statutes. Court orders account for the policies in approximately one-third of the jurisdictions. Agency administrative standards are the basis for the policies in another one-third of the jurisdictions. Others base their policies upon state regulations or city/county ordinance.<sup>43</sup>

Most frequently law enforcement juvenile records are expunged pursuant to a court order. Other cir-

43See supra, n. 24.



cumstances under which such records are expunged include reaching the age of majority, or reaching a specified age other than the age of majority, ranging from 16 years to 38 years, the expiration of a specified period, maintaining a clean record, adjudication for limited offenses, and expiration of the court's jurisdiction. Again, a few (.5%) require that the juvenile have no pending proceedings in either juvenile or adult criminal court. In addition, the record may be expunged upon the death of the record subject or upon the expiration of some specified period following death (1%), or under various, other circumstances (5%).

In about half of the jurisdictions, law enforcement records are expunged under the above circumstances only pursuant to a court order. In approximately one-fifth of the jurisdictions, expungement occurs automatically, while in others, expungement takes place under certain circumstances pursuant to court order and occurs automatically under other specified circumstances.

Law enforcement records which are expunged pursuant to the above procedures include, in order of their prevalence, the arrest records, master name index reference, photographs, fingerprints, investigative or incident reports, and other references which are created regarding juveniles. In one-fifth (20%) of the jurisdictions, all references to the juvenile are expunged. See Figure 3. All but one of the juvenile judges who responded to the survey indicated that court records on juveniles are sealed or expunged in at least some circumstances in their jurisdictions. Most commonly, the records are sealed at some point in the proceedings and then expunded at a later time. In jurisdictions where sealing is permitted, survey responses indicated that it is pursuant to court order in ten responding jurisdictions (63%), upon the expiration of a specified period in five jurisdictions (31%), at the age of majority in four jurisdictions (25%) at an age other than the age of majority in two jurisdictions (13%), for certain offense types in two of the jurisdictions, upon expiration of the court's jurisdiction in one of the jurisdictions, and if there are no pending criminal or juvenile delinquency proceedings in one jurisdiction.

Expungement, on the other hand, is permitted in 18 jurisdictions, including under circumstances of a court order in 14 of the jurisdictions (78% of those responding), at the age of majority in three jurisdictions (17%), at an age other than the age of majority in six of the jurisdictions (33%) upon the expiration of a specified period in 17% of the jurisdictions, for certain offense types in 11% of the jurisdictions, expiration of the court's jurisdiction in 5% of the jurisdictions, and no pending criminal or juvenile delinquency proceeding in 5% of the jurisdictions expunge records under other circumstances.

		Responding Jurisdictions		
			Number	<u>%*</u>
Utilize	unique identification number or other tracking/			
C HILL	or linking procedure		156	69
		•	200	25
				18
	—unique arrest number			12
	—unique case number			10
	other			.5
Capab	le of making county/statewide record search		108	48
	county repository			12
	state repository			8
	informal telephone calls to other agencies			8
	probation or parole agencies			5
	juvenile courts			4
	—FBI through NCIC			2

Table 6

Eight of the 13 central state repositories that indicated that they maintain juvenile records indicated that they have requirements concerning the sealing or expungement of juvenile records, including fingerprints. Two of these agencies seal or expunge only upon the receipt of a court order. In the others, the records are sealed or returned to the juvenile court upon the expiration of juvenile court jurisdiction and/or the juveniles reaching the age of majority, if no other action is pending.

#### **TRACKING JUVENILE HISTORIES**

The ability to put together a reliable juvenile history record, even within a single jurisdiction, is dependent upon the ability to track a particular juvenile's involvement with the justice system. In addition, the exchange of information across jurisdictions may be valuable during the investigatory stage of a crime, as well as for later proceedings, such as bail setting or sentencing.

Over two-thirds of the law enforcement agencies

responding to the survey utilize a unique identification number or some other tracking or linking procedure to ensure that separate arrests and dispositions relating to a particular juvenile can be positively linked together into a chronological juvenile history. See Table 6. The most frequently used procedure is the assignment of a unique identification number. Other procedures include the maintenance of a juvenile card file listing all history on a card assigned to a specific juvenile or a similar automated procedure, the assignment of a unique arrest number, and the assignment of a unique case number. Other procedures are used in a small number of jurisdictions.

Slightly fewer than half of the responding law enforcement agencies are capable of making a countywide or statewide search to ascertain whether a particular juvenile has been arrested by another law enforcement agency. In 28 of the jurisdictions, a check can be made by going to a county repository, while in 19 jurisdictions, a state central repository can provide the information. Other agencies which

	Responding Jurisdictions Number %*		
		INDEL	<u>70 ·</u>
Access by agency personnel restricted		112	49
Required to indicate disposition prior to release		58	27
-based on agency administrative standards			14
based on state statute			13
based on state regulations			5
			2
based on city or county ordinance			3
Refuse permission to review records by record subjects		91	41
Permit review of records only		68	31
Permit review and copying of record by record subject		63	28
The bold figures above represent the percentages of all respondents w fifirmatively. The other percentage figures are based only on those respondents w			a

 Table 7

 Access to and Dissemination of Juvenile Records

may be contacted include probation or parole agencies, juvenile courts, and the FBI (through NCIC). Nineteen agencies indicated that they make checks by making telephone calls to other agencies deemed pertinent to the contact.

As indicated earlier, only 13 of the 31 state criminal record repositories that responded to the repository survey indicated that juvenile records are maintained in their statewide files. Of these 13 states, seven have laws requiring law enforcement agencies to submit juvenile arrest records to the repository. In three states, there is a legal requirement that juvenile courts submit dispositions to the repository. Based on survey responses, an average of about 33% of the juvenile records maintained by the 13 repositories include juvenile court dispositions.<sup>44</sup> Of the 23 juvenile courts that responded to this court survey inquiry, 19 reported that they utilize a unique identification number or some other tracking or linking procedure to ensure that separate arrests, petitions and adjudications relating to a particular juvenile can be positively linked together into a chronological juvenile history. Of these, 35% utilize a unique identification number, 32% use unique case numbers, while 13% utilize some other procedure.

Thirteen of the courts (54%) have the ability to make a countywide or statewide search to compile a cumulative juvenile history of a particular juvenile. The most common way to compile the history is by access to a county repository. Other courts utilize state central repositories, their own files, probation or parole agencies, or some other agency.

Twenty-one of the jurisdictions (87%) indicated that there are no significant problems in associating juvenile subjects with existing prior juvenile histo-

<sup>44</sup> See supra, n. 27.

ries. Eighteen of the courts indicated that they maintain jacket files or other files containing all original source records relating to a particular juvenile, such as fingerprints, arrest reports, petitions, adjudications.

#### ACCESS TO AND DISSEMINATION OF JUVENILE RECORDS

About half of the law enforcement agencies responding to the survey indicated that access to juvenile records by personnel within the agency is restricted to personnel with a legitimate law enforcement need for the information. See Table 7. Approximately one-quarter reported that they are required to indicate the disposition or status of the case before releasing a juvenile record outside of the law enforcement agency. This requirement is based at least in part upon state statute, administrative standards, state regulations, court order, or city/county ordinance.

Nearly half of the agencies responding do not permit record subjects to review their juvenile records. Approximately one-third permit review of records, but do not permit copying. Access to juvenile law enforcement records by the record subject or his parent or representative for the purpose of reviewing *and* copying the record is permitted in only approximately one-quarter of the agencies responding.

Of the 24 juvenile courts that responded to the court survey, 12 indicated that they make their legal records on juveniles available in connection with adult criminal investigations by law enforcement agencies. Eleven courts indicated they make their legal records available to prosecutors for charging decisions. And 20 courts (83%) indicated that their juvenile legal records are made available for use in adult criminal proceedings for bail or sentencing decisions.

#### AUDITS OF RECORDS

The accuracy and completeness of a juvenile history record is critical if the record is to be useful for any purpose. Any quality control of juvenile records in terms of an audit, however, is still a minority practice. Policies for conducting regular audits exist in only 46 of the responding law enforcement jurisdictions (21%). In 19 of these agencies, the audits which are conducted are formal audits. In 22 agencies, the audits are informal editing or proofreading audits. Five agencies did not specify the type of audit they conduct.

#### AUTOMATED RECORDKEEPING SYSTEMS

Of the law enforcement agencies that responded to the survey, juvenile arrest records are maintained in automated systems in less than half (41%). The average number of records maintained in an automated name search system is 62,297, ranging from none to 130,000. The average number of records maintained as fully automated juvenile history records is 4,440, ranging from none to 50,000.

In almost all of the agencies that have automated juvenile arrest records, all such arrest records are automated. In four jurisdictions, however, some criteria, such as offense type, is used to determine which records will be automated.

Of the 24 juvenile courts that responded, eight indicated that their records are fully automated and another nine indicated that their records are partially automated.

### PART III

## REVIEW OF JUVENILE RECORDS STATUTES

The review of juvenile records statutes was compiled by a state-by-state examination of the applicable statutes.<sup>45</sup> A total of 52 jurisdictions were reviewed, including the 50 states, the District of Columbia, and the federal code of the United States. Although court and repository information is included, the statutory summary again focuses on the law enforcement records of juveniles.

This statutory overview provides basic information about the content, maintenance, purging practices, and dissemination and access to juvenile records. Although there may be no statutory regulation of a particular recordkeeping practice, this will not necessarily mean that the activity in any given jurisdiction is unregulated. The practice may be authorized by a state regulation, court rule, city or county ordinance, or most commonly, by an agency administrative standard. The state statute is a starting place, however, for determining the extent of legislative control regarding juvenile records and whether there is a basis for statewide uniformity in juvenile recordkeeping practices.

The areas examined are the age at which juvenile status for juvenile delinquents terminates, fingerprinting authority, the retention and destruction of fingerprints, sealing of records, expungement of records, time period for detention hearings, the dissemination and access to law enforcement records of juveniles, and the content of juvenile records. More detailed information regarding each area is presented in Appendices H through M.

#### THE "AGE" OF JUVENILE DELINQUENTS

The subject of this study is the juvenile population of the United States. Although crime is reported to the Federal Bureau of Investigation for the compilation of the Uniform Crime Reports on the basis of juvenile offenders under the age of 18,<sup>46</sup> the juvenile population is not uniformly defined throughout the country. See Figure 4. When looking at the results of this or of any study involving juveniles, it is important to note that the age at which a child wil' lose the protections of the juvenile court, including the confidentiality of his record, will differ among jurisdictions. The age may even differ in the same jurisdiction depending upon what is alleged in the juvenile petition.<sup>47</sup>

The majority of jurisdictions limit the age for juvenile status at age 18 for juvenile delinquency petitions. The jurisdictions imposing this age limit include 38 states, the District of Columbia and the United States.<sup>48</sup>

<sup>46</sup> Crime in the United States, 1986, Federal Bureau of Investigation, 1987, p. 3.

47 See, e.g., D.C. CODE §16-2301(3), defining "child" as an individual who is under 18 years of age unless the charges are for certain enumerated acts, including murder, forcible rape, burglary in the first degree, robbery while armed, or assault with intent to commit any of the enumerated offenses, in which case "child" is defined as an individual less than 16 years of age. For others, see Appendix H.

<sup>48</sup> The 38 states are Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colorado, Delaware, Florida, Hawaii, Idaho, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Maine, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Tennessee, Utah, Virginia, Washington, West Virginia, and Wisconsin.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Statutory references contained in this part and in Appendices H through M are current to September, 1987.



A total of 12 jurisdictions, including the District of Columbia for certain enumerated offenses,<sup>49</sup> terminate juvenile status at younger than 18. Connecticut, the District of Columbia, New York, North Carolina, and Vermont impose the lowest limitation, 16 years of age. Seven other states, Georgia, Illinois, Louisiana, Massachusetts, Missouri, South Carolina, and Texas, terminate juvenile status at age 17. Wyoming stands alone in extending juvenile status to the age of 19.

#### FINGERPRINTING JUVENILES

Statutory authority to fingerprint juveniles exists in 45 of the 52 jurisdictions reviewed.<sup>50</sup> The extent of the authority ranges from permitting fingerprints

to be taken of all juveniles who violate the law<sup>51</sup> to authorization only with consent of the court.<sup>52</sup>

What is found more frequently than blanket authorization or the strict limitation of court approval is a more lengthy statute spelling out specific circumstances under which fingerprinting of juveniles is permitted. The circumstances commonly include an age limitation, usually 14, under which fingerprints may not be taken or may be taken only with court approval, an offense limitation, such as any act which if committed by an adult would constitute a felony, and an exception to the other circumstances when the child is in custody and latent fingerprints have been found which the officer has probable cause to believe will match those of the

<sup>49</sup> Supra, n. 67.

<sup>50</sup> For statutory citations in jurisdictions where fingerprinting is authorized, refer to Appendix I.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> See, e.g., IDAHO CODE § 16-1811(6) (Cum. Supp. 1987), which provides that, "A law enforcement agency may fingerprint and photograph a child taken into custody for an offense."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> See, e.g., MONT. REV. CODES ANN. § 41-5-304(1)(a), "[N]o youth may be fingerprinted or photographed for criminal identification purposes except by order of the youth court judge;"

child. This is the typical statutory scheme in eight states.<sup>53</sup>

Statewide procedural rules provide the authorization to fingerprint juveniles in the states of Col-

<sup>53</sup> The fingerprinting provisions of the Alabama statute are typical of those encompassing such circumstances:

(a) Fingerprints of [a] child 14 or more years of age who is referred to court for an alleged delinquent act may be taken and filed by law enforcement officers investigating the commission of a felony. If the court does not find that the child committed the alleged felony, the fingerprint card and all copies of the fingerprints shall be destroyed.

(b) If latent fingerprints are found during the investigation of an offense and a law enforcement officer has reason to believe that they are those of the child in custody, he may fingerprint the child regardless of age or offense for purpose of immediate comparison with the latent fingerprints. If the comparison is negative, the fingerprint card and other copies of the fingerprints taken shall be immediately destroyed. If the comparison is positive and the child is under 14 years of age and referred to court, the fingerprint card and other copies of the fingerprints shall be delivered to the court for disposition. If the child is not referred to court, the prints shall be immediately destroyed.

(c) If the court finds that a child 14 or more years of age has committed a felony, the prints may be retained in a local file and copies sent to a central state depository; provided, that the court shall, by rule, require special precautions to be taken to insure that such fingerprints will be maintained in such manner and under such safeguards as to limit their use to inspection for comparison purposes by law enforcement officers or by staff of the depository only in the investigation of a crime. ALA. CODE § 12-15-102.

See also IOWA CODE § 232.148, NEV. REV. STAT. § 62.265, N.J. REV. STAT. § 2A:4A-61 (consent of parent and child or court is needed to obtain fingerprints for latent comparison), N.D. CENT. CODE § 27-20-53(1) (Supp. 1985), TEX. FAM. CODE ANN. tit. 3, § 51.15 (Vernon), VA. CODE § 16.1-299, and WYO. STAT. § 14-6-240.

orado<sup>54</sup> and Maryland.<sup>55</sup> In Hawaii, the legislature has authorized local courts to promulgate rules and standards for the fingerprinting of minors "as they consider necessary to guide and control the police, within their respective jurisdictions..."<sup>56</sup>

In eight states, there is no mention of authorization for or prohibition against fingerprinting juveniles.<sup>57</sup> Any regulation of fingerprinting in these states would presumably be pursuant to local legislation or agency administrative policy.

The life of the juvenile fingerprint file is usually limited, again by statutory mandate. In 34 of the jurisdictions which authorize fingerprinting, there are also statutory provisions for the sealing, destruction, or the return of the fingerprint files to the juvenile court.<sup>58</sup> The majority of those jurisdictions have specific statutory provisions for the destruction and retention of juvenile fingerprints, while the remainder have purging statutes with broad language encompassing all records or indicia of arrest in the possession of law enforcement agencies.<sup>59</sup>

In jurisdictions where the destruction of fingerprints is mandated, the circumstances for doing so usually include a negative result of the latent fin-

<sup>54</sup> Colo. Rules of Juv. P. 9.1 (1975).

<sup>55</sup> 1 MD. RULES 909(6)(c).

56 HAW. REV. STAT. § 571-74.

<sup>57</sup> The states are Arizona, Kentucky, Massachusetts, Michigan, New Hampshire, Rhode Island, West Virginia, and Wisconsin.

58 See Appendix J.

<sup>59</sup> Provisions for the destruction of fingerprint files are found in the statutes of Alabama, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Idaho, Indiana, Iowa, Montana, Nevada, New Jersey, New York, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Texas, Vermont, Virginia, Washington, and Wyoming. Ohio also provides for the sealing of fingerprints, as does Colorado. Three states, Arkansas, Ohio, and Utah, also have statutory requirements for the return of juvenile fingerprints to the juvenile court. Sealing or expungement statutes generally requiring the purging of all law enforcement records are found in California, Connecticut, Illinois, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, Missouri, Nebraska, New Mexico, South Dakota, and Utah. gerprint comparison, no petition or charges ultimately filed in the court, a favorable outcome of an adjudication hearing, or the maintenance of a clean record for a specified period.<sup>60</sup> Less frequently, an age limitation may also be included.<sup>61</sup>

Approximately one-third of the jurisdictions authorizing the fingerprinting of juveniles also provide for the maintenance of those fingerprints in a central repository.<sup>62</sup> The basis of retention in nine jurisdictions is that the juvenile is charged with an offense which would be a felony if committed by an adult.<sup>63</sup> Other jurisdictions place no offensetype restrictions upon the fingerprints which are collected by the central repository.<sup>64</sup>

#### DISSEMINATION AND ACCESS TO UNSEALED LAW ENFORCEMENT RECORDS

The dissemination and access to unsealed juvenile law enforcement records is governed less frequently by statute than are juvenile court records. Nevertheless, most jurisdictions do include some language regarding the availability or disclosure of records maintained by law enforcement agencies.<sup>65</sup> Only seven jurisdictions make no mention of dis-

 $^{60}$  See Appendix J for the circumstances applicable to each jurisdiction.

#### 61 Id.

 $^{62}$  The jurisdictions are Alabama, California, Florida, Kansas, Maine, Minnesota, Nebraska, Nevada, New York, Ohio, and Utah. In addition, in the states of Georgia and Vermont, fingerprints may be forwarded to a central repository if the interests of national security require. In Illinois, fingerprints may be forwarded to a central repository when authorized by the court.

<sup>63</sup> The states are Alabama (must also be 14 years of age), Alaska (must also be 16 years of age), Florida, Kansas (other than felony requires court order), Nebraska, Nevada (must also be 14 years of age), Pennsylvania, South Dakota (also misdemeanors involving moral turpitude), and Wyoming.

 $^{64}$  The jurisdiction, however, may be limited initially by offense type in the taking of juvenile fingerprints.

<sup>65</sup> See Appendix K.

semination or access to the unsealed police records of a juvenile.<sup>66</sup>

In jurisdictions where access is granted, it is most commonly given to other law enforcement agencies for the purpose of investigation, to adult courts, more frequently for sentencing purposes than for impeachment, and to the record subject, his parent or guardian, and/or his attorney or representative. Various statutes will also designate access for prosecutors, social welfare agencies, the military or when necessary for the interest of national security, probation and parole agencies, the victim of the juvenile's act, school authorities, the institution where the child is committed, persons engaged in legitimate research, criminal justice agencies to whom the record subject has applied for employment, and a general catch-all category of recipients usually denoted as "others as the court may determine who have a legitimate interest in the proceedings".

Several jurisdictions which do not enumerate at length the parties to whom records may be disclosed may permit access when specifically authorized by the court.<sup>67</sup> Other jurisdictions specify the parties and in addition, require a court order for release to the parties so designated.<sup>68</sup>

#### SEALING OF JUVENILE RECORDS<sup>69</sup>

Sealing of juvenile records is governed by statute in most jurisdictions. Not unlike other areas of ju-

<sup>66</sup> The states are Connecticut, Michigan, Nebraska, Nevada, New Mexico, Oklahoma, and Utah.

67 See, ME. REV. STAT. tit. 15, § 3308(5) (Cum. Supp. 1986), MINN. STAT. § 260.161 Subd. 3, MO. REV. STAT. § 211.321 (2) (Supp. 1983), WYO. STAT. § 14-6-240(d).

<sup>68</sup> See, e.g., GA. CODE § 15-11-59, N.Y. FAM. CT. ACT § 381.3(2) (McKinney), S.D. COMPILED LAWS § 26-8-19.5, and W. VA. CODE § 49-5-17(d).

<sup>69</sup> While some statutes refer to the "expungement" of juvenile records, the procedure described is actually sealing the record, not obliterating or destroying it. See, e.g., KAN. STAT. § 38-1610. For the purpose of the statutory review, sealing and expungement will be interpreted in the same context as that set forth in the analyses of the surveys of the records. See supra, n. 44.

venile recordkeeping, law enforcement juvenile records are less frequently subject to legislative mandates than are court records of juveniles.

Pursuant to statutes in 25 jurisdictions, both court and police records are sealed,<sup>70</sup> while in an additional six jurisdictions, only juvenile court records are sealed.<sup>71</sup> In 21 jurisdictions, there are no statutory sealing provisions for either court or police records.<sup>72</sup>

In most cases, there are statutory limitations on which juvenile records may be sealed. These may include a clean record period, expiration of the court's jurisdiction, reaching the age of majority or some other designated age, no subsequent convictions or adjudications for enumerated offenses, no pending proceedings for enumerated offenses, the outcome of the proceedings for which the record was created, the type of offense which was the underlying basis for the petition, and the death of the record subject.

In six states, sealing occurs automatically upon the occurrence of an event, usually reaching a particular age. In Alaska, court records are sealed upon the individual's reaching 18 years of age,<sup>73</sup> while in Montana,<sup>74</sup> both court and law enforcement records are sealed when the record subject turns 18. Law enforcement and court records are sealed automatically in New Hampshire when the

individual reaches age 19,<sup>75</sup> in Nevada, at age 24,<sup>76</sup> and in West Virginia, one year after the eighteenth birthday of the individual or one year after personal or juvenile jurisdiction is terminated.<sup>77</sup> If the juvenile is adjudicated for a delinquent act in Virginia, the court records will be automatically sealed when the individual reaches 19 years of age and at least five years have elapsed since the last hearing in the juvenile proceedings.<sup>78</sup>

Once the records are sealed, access or inspection is closely regulated in most states. In 21 of the jurisdictions, no access is permitted without the consent of the court.<sup>79</sup> In only six states is there no mention of whether or how access or inspection is permitted to sealed juvenile records.<sup>80</sup>

Included in the statutes of the states of Alabama, New Jersey, and Washington are provisions for nullifying the sealing order of the court if subsequent to the sealing, the record subject is convicted of a crime or adjudicated delinquent. In New Mexico, the sealing order will be nullified if there is a subsequent criminal conviction, an adjudication for delinquency, or an adjudication for being a child in need of supervision.

<sup>70</sup> The jurisdictions include Alabama, California, Colorado, the District of Columbia, Georgia, Idaho, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, Ohio, South Dakota, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Washington, and West Virginia. For statutory citations, see Appendix J.

<sup>71</sup> The states are Alaska, Florida, Maryland, North Dakota, Virginia, and Wyoming. For statutory citations, see Appendix L.

<sup>72</sup> The jurisdictions are Arizona, Arkansas, Connecticut, Delaware, Hawaii, Illinois, Indiana, Louisiana, Maine, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, North Carolina, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Carolina, Tennessee, Wisconsin, and the United States.

73 ALASKA STAT. § 47.10.090.

<sup>74</sup> Mont. Rev. Codes Ann. § 41-5-604.

75 N.H. REV. STAT. ANN. § 169-B: 35 (Cum. Supp. 1986).

<sup>76</sup> Nev. Rev. Stat. § 62.275(3).

77 W. VA. CODE § 49-5-17.

<sup>78</sup> VA. CODE § 16.1-306.B.

<sup>79</sup> The jurisdictions are Alabama, Alaska, California, Colorado, the District of Columbia, Idaho, Iowa, Kansas, Maryland, Mississippi, Nebraska, Nevada, New Jersey, New Mexico, South Dakota, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Washington, West Virginia, and Wyoming.

<sup>80</sup> The states include Georgia, Missouri, Montana, New Hampshire, North Dakota, and Ohio.

#### EXPUNGEMENT OF JUVENILE RECORDS<sup>81</sup>

Twenty-one jurisdictions authorize the expungement of both law enforcement and court records.<sup>82</sup> Expungement of only court records is mandated in six states.<sup>83</sup> In Massachusetts, there are no statutes providing for the expungement of juvenile records, however, pursuant to judicial determination, courts have the power to order the expungement of police records if the utility of the records for law enforcement purposes is likely to be minimal or nonexistent.<sup>84</sup> Approximately one-half of the 27 jurisdictions which have expungement statutes are jurisdictions which also have sealing statutes.<sup>85</sup>

The circumstances under which juvenile records may be expunged are similar to those generally set forth in the sealing statutes. Because expungement is an irreversible act, however, a court order is required almost uniformly before the procedure is effectuated. In only one state, Connecticut, is there a provision for expungement of all police and court records without petitioning the court, and it is applicable only when the child is found not delinquent.<sup>86</sup>

The statutory authority for expungement of juvenile court records in New York is unique in that it merely recognizes the court's inherent authority to order expungement without further qualifications

<sup>81</sup> For the interpretation of "expungement", see supra, n. 44.

<sup>82</sup> The jurisdictions include Alabama, Arizona, California, Connecticut, Delaware, Illinois, Indiana, Louisiana, Mississippi, Montana, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, Texas, Washington, and Wyoming. For statutory citations, see Appendix M.

<sup>83</sup> The states are Arkansas, Florida, Minnesota, Missouri, Utah, and Virginia.

<sup>84</sup> Police Comm'r of Boston v. Municipal Court of Dorchester Dist., 374 Mass. 640, 374 N.E.2d 272 (1978).

<sup>85</sup> The jurisdictions are Alabama, California, Florida, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, New York, North Dakota, Ohio, Texas, Utah, Washington, and Wyoming.

<sup>86</sup> CONN. GEN. STAT. ANN. § 46b-146 (Supp. 1986) (West).

or limit.<sup>87</sup> The basis for the statutory provision is derived from the New York Court of Appeals decision in *Matter of Dorothy D.*,<sup>88</sup> wherein the court determined that the inability to order the destruction of juvenile records was in conflict with the purpose of the Family Court Act.<sup>89</sup> In addition, the authority of courts to order the expungement of juvenile law enforcement records was also recognized in the caselaw of New York.<sup>90</sup>

A unique feature of the Ohio expungement statute is that unless the record subject waives his right to bring a civil action based upon his arrest, the court shall keep a sealed copy of all of his court and law enforcement records, except fingerprints, until the statute of limitations on the civil action expires.<sup>91</sup>

<sup>87</sup> N.Y. FAM. CT. ACT § 375.3 (McKinney) provides as follows:

Nothing contained in this article shall preclude the court's use of its inherent power to order the expungement of court records.

<sup>88</sup> 49 N.Y.2d 212, 424 N.Y.S.2d 890, 400 N.E.2d 1342 (1980).

<sup>89</sup> The court found that:

[T]he very existence of such records, despite provisions for confidentiality, may constitute a substantial impediment to entry into institutions of higher learning, government or private employment, the armed services, or the professions, cannot be seriously questioned. For this reason it would be antithetical to the purpose of the Family Court Act to maintain records which would not benefit society and would result in bringing unwarranted discrimination to a child's future (citation omitted). 424 N.Y.S.2d at 891, 400 N.E.2d at 1343.

<sup>90</sup> See, e.g., Matter of Todd H., 49 N.Y.2d 1022, 429 N.Y.S.2d 401, 406 N.E.2d 1338 (1980).

<sup>91</sup> OHIO REV. CODE ANN. § 2151.358(F) (Supp. 1986) (Anderson) provides in pertinent part, as follows:

If the applicant for an expungement order does not waive in writing his right to bring any civil action based on the arrest for which the expungement order is applied, the court shall, in addition to ordering the deletion, destruction, or erasure of all index references and of all (footnote continued) When the statute of limitations expires or a waiver is executed, the records which were the subject of the expungement order are then destroyed.<sup>92</sup>

#### DETENTION HEARINGS

All jurisdictions require that a child taken into custody be given a court hearing within prescribed time limits. The initial hearing for detained juveniles is for the purpose of determining whether the juvenile's detention shall continue or whether the juvenile shall be released pending further proceedings in the matter. This also is generally the first opportunity for the court to review the juvenile history of the individual before him.

The time period for holding detention hearings ranges from being "brought forthwith before the court"<sup>93</sup> to "not later than ninety-six hours"<sup>94</sup> after the juvenile has been detained. Most jurisdictions, however, require the hearing within 48 hours<sup>95</sup> or

> references to the arrest that are maintained by the state or any political subdivision of the state, order that a copy of all records of the case except fingerprints held by the court or a law enforcement agency be delivered to the court. The court shall seal all of the records delivered to the court in a separate file in which only sealed records are maintained. The sealed records shall be kept by the court until the statute of limitations expires for any civil action based on the arrest, any pending litigation is terminated, or the applicant files a written waiver of his right to bring a civil action based on the arrest. After the expiration of the statute of limitations, the termination of the pending litigation, or the filing of the waiver, the court shall destroy the sealed records.

<sup>93</sup> See, e.g., MICH. COMP. LAWS ANN. § 712A.14. See also DEL. CODE tit. 10, § 933(2) (Cum. Supp. 1986).

<sup>94</sup> See, e.g., N.D. CENT. CODE § 27-20-17(2) (Interim Supp. 1985).

95 The states include Alaska, Arizona, California, Colorado, Hawaii, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Maine, Mississippi (with a warrant), Nebraska, South Carolina, South Dakota, Utah, and Vermont. 72 hours.<sup>96</sup> Others require that a detention hearing be held within 12 hours,<sup>97</sup> 24 hours,<sup>98</sup> 36 hours,<sup>99</sup> or 84 hours.<sup>100</sup> Still others prescribe hearing periods such as the business day following arrest,<sup>101</sup> not later than the next court day,<sup>102</sup> and not later than the second working day following arrest unless the arrest is on Friday or Saturday, then no later than the first working day following arrest.<sup>103</sup>

In the federal courts, the child must not be detained "for longer than a reasonable period of time before being brought before a magistrate."<sup>104</sup> In addition, the federal law, unlike the statutory provisions of any other jurisdiction, requires that before the commencement of any proceedings against a juvenile, the court must have received the prior court records of the juvenile or a certification in writing that the juvenile has no prior record or the reasons for its unavailability.<sup>105</sup>

96 The states include Alabama, Arkansas, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, New Mexico, New York ( or the next court day, whichever is earlier), Ohio, Pennsylvania, Virginia (or the next day, if the court is sitting), Washington, and Wyoming.

<sup>97</sup> North Carolina is the only state with this provision.

<sup>98</sup> Ten states have this requirement, including Florida, Idaho, Mississippi (without a warrant), Missouri, Montana, Nevada, New Hampshire, Oregon, Rhode Island, and Wisconsin.

99 This is the requirement in the states of Illinois and Minnesota.

100 This is the requirement in Tennessee pursuant to RULE 6(a), TENN. RULES ANN. (1986-1987).

101 This provision applies in Connecticut.

102 This is the general statutory provision in the jurisdictions of the District of Columbia, Maryland, New Jersey, Oklahoma, and West Virginia. See also supra, n. 116.

103 This is the statutory mandate of Texas.

<sup>104</sup> 18 U.S.C.A. § 5033.

105 The statute provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

Any proceedings against a juvenile under this chapter or as an adult shall not be (footnote continued)

<sup>92</sup> Id.

#### CONTENT OF JUVENILE RECORDS

There are only three states which require that dispositions be included in juvenile records which are disclosed. In California, both the Department of Justice and local law enforcement agencies are required to include the disposition of an arrest or taking into custody.<sup>106</sup> Arizona law requires that the juvenile court release the dispositions of juvenile arrests, as well as of referrals and complaints, when the records of a juvenile are released to other law enforcement agencies, prosecutors, or the juvenile's attorney.<sup>107</sup> When law enforcement agencies in Pennsylvania disclose the content of juvenile records, they are also required to include the disposition of the case.<sup>108</sup>

Only two states have statutory procedures which permit the individual to audit his own record. In Indiana, the record subject may request modifications to his record when it contains errors.<sup>109</sup> Washington law sets forth a two-step, self-audit procedure in which the court must first grant the individual the authority to inspect the record. Following the inspection, the individual must then make a second motion to the court to have the record corrected.<sup>110</sup>

> commenced until any prior juvenile court records of such juvenile have been received by the court, or the clerk of the juvenile court has certified in writing that the juvenile has no prior record, or that the juvenile's record is unavailable and why it is unavailable. 18 U.S.C.A. § 5032.

106 CAL. WELF. & INST. CODE § 204 (Deering) (Department of Justice) and CAL, WELF. & INST. CODE § 828 (Deering) (law enforcement agencies).

107 ARIZ. REV. STAT. § 8-208(B) (Supp. 1986).

108 42 PA. CONS. STAT. ANN. § 6308(b)(2) (Cum. Supp. 1987).

<sup>109</sup> IND. CODE § 31-6-8-1.2(i).

110 WASH. REV. CODE ANN. § 13.04.130 (Cum, Supp. 1987).

### PART IV

## CONCLUSIONS

Information policy management concerning juvenile records has evolved on a jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis resulting in a checkerboard of practices throughout the juvenile justice system. As a result, understanding the profile of juvenile offenders is difficult. Policymakers attempting to resolve the issues of just deserts, selective incapacitation and rehabilitation as they apply to juveniles must be aware of and appreciate the differences which are inherent in the juvenile justice system. From an information management perspective, this study confirmed some of the apprehensions expressed by numerous commentators concerning the quality of juvenile records maintained by law enforcement agencies. The study, however, also indicated that juvenile violations are generally classified according to the same penal code terminology used in the adult system. Although administrative barriers may currently prevent the ready exchange of juvenile history information, the increased use of the juvenile record may concomitantly serve to increase the quality of the record.

#### QUALITY CONTROL

The survey confirmed a need to improve procedures to ensure the accuracy and completeness of law enforcement records on juveniles. Less than half of the juvenile records maintained by the law enforcement agencies that responded to the survey include court dispositions. In addition, very few agencies have any procedures to ensure the quality of their juvenile records. Only about half have any procedures for obtaining prosecutor or court dispositions. Only one-fifth have any audit procedures and most of the auditing that does take place is informal and irregular. Only about half of the responding agencies permit juveniles or their representatives to review their records to ensure accuracy and completeness.

The quality of juvenile records, moreover, has received little attention from the state legislatures. Only three states have laws requiring dispositions to be included on juvenile records that are disseminated outside of the record-holding agency. Two states have laws authorizing juveniles to have access to their records for review purposes. Additional use of juvenile records may encourage upgrading the quality of the records. The lack of concern over the completeness and accuracy of the records may be a reflection of the fact that by and large juvenile records have not been intended for use in the adult system. If the data is intended for broader use and dissemination, additional resources may be brought to bear upon upgrading the data.

#### DOCUMENTATION OF JUVENILE CONTACTS

The survey indicated that less than one-fourth of the responding law enforcement agencies have policies requiring that written records be made of all contacts with juveniles. Thus it is evident that police records do not include reference to many juvenile contacts that do not result in arrest or detention.

#### JUVENILE VIOLATIONS DEFINED IN RECORDS

The study did indicate, however, that, in one important respect, law enforcement records on juveniles are more complete and useful than some commentators have felt them to be. Specifically, survey responses indicate that these records utilize penal code terminology to describe the misconduct of the juvenile to a much greater degree than has been suggested; moreover, the great majority of the agencies that responded to the survey indicated that the form and substance of juvenile court petitions and adjudications in their jurisdictions enable them to determine a disposition for each arrest charge or at least to determine which charge was the basis for the adjudication. Thus, these records would appear to reflect a clear indication of the extent and nature of a particular juvenile's misconduct in terms that are understandable and useful for sentencing and other disposition decisions.

### LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE BARRIERS TO JUVENILE HISTORY CHECKS

The study confirmed the existence of a number of suspected legal and administrative barriers to the availability of juvenile records outside of the juvenile system and, indeed, even within it. It is difficult or impossible in most jurisdictions to obtain a full juvenile history on a particular juvenile. Only about one-third of the responding law enforcement agencies forward juvenile fingerprint records to state repositories. Less than half of the agencies have any source for c'taining full juvenile histories. Only a handful of states have laws requiring any types of juvenile records to be forwarded to their state repositories, and most of the laws that do exist relate to the records of juveniles who are tried as adults.

#### **IDENTIFICATION OF JUVENILES**

The lack of full juvenile histories may be due largely to the fact that few juveniles are fingerprinted. Although most jurisdictions have policies for fingerprinting juveniles, in at least some instances, the survey indicated that only about onefourth of the juveniles arrested by law enforcement agencies are fingerprinted, and many of these fingerprints are subsequently sealed or expunged. Fingerprinting is universally regarded as an indispensable element of adult criminal recordkeeping, both as a means of ensuring the accuracy of identification and as a basis for linking arrest and disposition data together into a searchable criminal history. It is probable that, if decisions are made to make juvenile records more available in adult criminal proceedings, these decisions will require an increase in the incidence of juvenile fingerprinting. Although many jurisdictions now use unique identification numbers and other tracking procedures as the basis for compiling juvenile histories, the experience of adult criminal record repositories has been that such procedures do not work unless they are tied to positive identification on the basis of fingerprints.<sup>111</sup>

#### SEALING AND EXPUNGEMENT PRACTICES PREVALENT

It also seems probable that any decision to make juvenile records more available in the adult justice system for sentencing and other purposes will need to be accompanied by revisions in state laws regarding the sealing and expungement of juvenile records. The survey confirmed previous findings that sealing and expungement of juvenile records is widespread. Although sealed records may be unsealed by court order, records that are expunged are permanently lost. The expungement of juvenile records is one of the most important underpinnings of the two-tier juvenile-adult justice system that enables juvenile offenders, even serious repeat offenders, to enter the adult system with clean records. If such proposals as selective incapacitation are to be effectively implemented, the obvious consequence is that juvenile record expungement laws and policies will need to be re-examined and revised.

#### SUMMARY

The desire to use juvenile records for selective incapacitation decisions in the adult justice system must contemplate the significant policy issues which necessarily surround the record. Effective decisionmaking requires an accurate historical accounting of a juvenile's contact with the justice system, regardless where the decisionmaking occurs. Any attempt to modify existing practices governing the creation, maintenance and dissemination of the juvenile record, however, may raise questions concerning the traditional juvenile justice system, its two-tier structure and its *parens patriae* approach and rehabilitative mission. The resolution of this conflict is the challenge for decisionmakers faced with the task of redefining the juvenile history record.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> See Tracking Juvenile Histories, Three Options for Creating Statewide, Longitudinal Records of Juvenile Offenders, Office of the Attorney General, California Department of Justice, 1985.



#### APPENDIX A

#### RESPONSES TO LAW ENFORCEMENT SURVEY

STATE	NUMBER	PERCENT OF TOTAL RESPONSES
Alabama	5	2.2
Alaska	0	0
Arizona	3	1.3
Arkansas	2	0.9
California	35	15.3
Colorado	5	2.2
Connecticut	5	2.2
Delaware	1	0.4
District of Columbia	0	0
Florida	19	8.3
Georgia	5	2.2
Hawaii	0	0
Idaho	2	0.9
Illinois	11	4.8
Indiana	6	2.6
lowa	3	1.3
Kansas	2	0.9
Kentucky	1.	0.4
Louisiana	3	1.3
Maine	3	1.3
Maryland	3	1.3
Massachusetts	3	1.3
	4	
Michigan	5	1.8
Minnesota	<u> </u>	2.2
Mississippi		0.4
Missouri	4	1.8
Montana Nabasaka		0.4
Nebraska	2	0.9
Nevada	1	0.4
New Hampshire	1	0.4
New Jersey	8	3.5
New Mexico	1	0.4
New York	10	4.4
North Carolina	5	2.2
North Dakota	0	0
Ohio	11	4.8
Oklahoma	1	0.4
Oregon	3	1.3
Pennsylvania	6	2.6
Rhode Island	3	1.3
South Carolina	2	0.9
South Dakota	0	0
Tennesse	4	1.8
Texas	17	7.5
Utah	4	1.8
Vermont	0	0
Virginia	8	3.5
Washington	4	1.8
West Virginia	0	0
Wisconsin	5	2.2
Wyoming	0	0
United States	0	0
#### APPENDIX B

## CONFIDENTIALITY RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE NATIONAL COUNCIL OF JUVENILE AND FAMILY COURT JUDGES REGARDING THE JUVENILE COURT AND SERIOUS OFFENDERS (1984)

#### **Open Hearings**

Fact finding hearings involving juveniles charged with criminal law violations and hearings for transfer to an adult criminal court should generally be open to the public while dispositional hearings should generally be closed. In a given case the court should exercise discretion to open or close the hearing to the public.

#### Police Should Be Informed of Court Actions in Their Cases

Juvenile courts should provide a law enforcement agency with the legal charge and disposition of juveniles referred by such agency for criminal law violations.

#### Juvenile Records Should Be Provided to Adult Courts When Sentencing

Once a person has been convicted of a crime in the adult criminal court, the legal record of any findings of guilt of charges of a criminal law violation in juvenile court should be made available to the adult criminal court upon its request.

#### Legal Records of Juveniles Should Be Open to Those Who Need To Know

Legal records of juveniles adjudicated for criminal law violations should be open to the child, the parents, the child's attorney, the guardian ad litem, the prosecutor and, at the discretion of the judge, to any other person having a legitimate interest. "Legal" records would not include social histories, medical and psychological reports, educational records or a transcript of the dispositional hearings.

## APPENDIX C

### STANDARDS RELATING TO JUVENILE RECORDS AND INFORMATION SYSTEMS (1977) (Tentative Draft)

Drafted by the Institute of Judicial Administration and American Bar Association Government Commission on Juvenile Justice Standards

### SECTION IV: STANDARDS FOR POLICE RECORDS

### 19.1 Rules and Regulations.

- A. Each law enforcement agency should promulgate rules and regulations pertaining to the collection, retention, and dissemination of law enforcement records pertaining to juveniles.
- B. Such rules and regulations should take into account the need of law enforcement agencies for detailed and accurate information concerning crimes committed by juveniles and police contacts with juveniles, the risk that information collected on juveniles may be misused and misinterpreted, and the need of juveniles to mature into adulthood without the unnecessary stigma of a police record.

# **19.2** Duty to keep complete and accurate records.

A. All information pertaining to the arrest, detention, and disposition of a case involving a juvenile should be complete, accurate, and up to date.

# **19.3** Allocation of responsibility for record-keeping.

Each law enforcement agency should designate a specific person or persons to be responsible for the collection, retention, and dissemination of law enforcement records pertaining to juveniles.

# **19.4** Retention of records in a secure and separate place.

Each law enforcement agency should maintain law enforcement records and files concerning juveniles in a secure place separate from adult records and files.

# **19.5** Duty to account for release of law enforcement records.

Law enforcement agencies should keep a record of all persons and organizations to whom information in the law enforcement records pertaining to juveniles has been released, the dates of the request, the reasons for the request, and the disposition of the request for information.

# 19.6 Juveniles' fingerprints; photographs.

- A. Law enforcement officers investigating the commission of a felony may take the fingerprints of a juvenile who is referred to court. If the court does not adjudicate the juvenile delinquent for the alleged felony, the fingerprint card and all copies of the fingerprints should be destroyed.
- B. If latent fingerprints are found during the investigation of an offense and a law enforcement officer has reason to believe that they are those of the

juvenile in custody, he or she may fingerprint the juvenile regardless of age or offense for purposes of immediate comparison with the latent fingerprints. If the comparison is negative, the fingerprint card and other copies of the fingerprints taken should be immediately destroyed. If the comparison is positive and the juvenile is referred to court, the fingerprint card and other copies of the fingerprints should be delivered to the court for disposition. If the juvenile is not referred to court, the prints should be immediately destroyed.

- C. If the court finds that a juvenile has committed an offense that would be a felony for an adult, the prints may be retained by the local law enforcement agency or sent to the [state depository] provided that they be kept separate from those of adults under special security measures limited to inspection for comparison purposes by law enforcement officers or by staff of the [state depository] only in the investigation of a crime.
- D. A juvenile in custody should be photographed for criminal identification purposes only if necessary for a pending investigation unless the case is transferred for criminal prosecution.
- E. Any photographs of juveniles, authorized under subsection D., that are retained by a law enforcement agency should be destroyed:

  immediately, if it is concluded that the juvenile did not commit the offense which is the subject of investigation; or
  upon a judicial determination that the juvenile is not delinquent; or
  when the juvenile's police record is destroyed pursuant to Standard 22.1.
- F. Any fingerprints of juveniles that are retained by a law enforcement agency should be destroyed when the juvenile's police record is destroyed pursuant to Standard 22.1.

G. Wilful violation of this standard should be a misdemeanor.

#### **19.7** Statistical reports.

- A. Each law enforcement agency should prepare a monthly and annual statistical report of crimes committed by juveniles an of the activities of the agency with respect to juveniles.
- B. The statistical report should include a maximum amount of aggregate data so that there can be meaningful analysis of juvenile crime and the activities of the agency with respect to juveniles.
- C. The principal state law enforcement agency of each state should develop standardized forms for collecting and reporting data to insure uniformity.

#### **19.8** Juveniles' privacy committee.

A juveniles' privacy committee should have authority with respect to law enforcement records pertaining to the arrest, detention, and disposition of cases involving juveniles that is commensurate with the authority of the committee set forth in Standard 2.1.

### PART XX: ACCESS TO POLICE RECORDS

# 20.1 Police records not to be public records.

Records and files maintained by a law enforcement agency pertaining to the arrest, detention, adjudication, or disposition of a juvenile's case should not be a public record.

20.2 Access by the juvenile and his or her representatives.

A juvenile, his or her parents, and the juvenile's attorney should, upon request, be given access to all records and files collected or retained by a law enforcement agency which pertain to the arrest, detention, adjudication, or disposition of a case involving the juvenile.

#### 20.3 Disclosure to third persons.

A. Information contained in law enforcement records and files pertaining to juveniles may be disclosed to:
1. law enforcement officers of any jurisdiction for law enforcement purposes;

2. a probation officer, judge, or prosecutor for purposes of executing the responsibilities of his or her position in a matter relating to the juvenile who is the subject of the record;

3. the state juvenile correctional agency if the juvenile is currently committed to the agency;

4. a person to whom it is necessary to disclose information for the limited purposes of investigating a crime, apprehending a juvenile, or determining whether to detain a juvenile;

5. a person who meets the criteria of Standards 5.6 [Access for research or evaluation] and 5.7 [Access for law enforcement or judicial purposes].

- B. Information contained in law enforcement records and files pertaining to a juvenile should not be released to law enforcement officers of another jurisdiction unless the juvenile was adjudicated delinquent or convicted of a crime or unless there is an outstanding arrest warrant for the juvenile.
- C. Information that is released pertaining to a juvenile should include the disposition or current status of the case.
- 20.4 Warnings and nondisclosure agreements.

Prior to disclosure of information concerning a juvenile to a law enforcement agency outside of the jurisdiction, that agency should be informed that the information should only be disclosed to law enforcement personnel, probation officers, judges, and prosecutors who are currently concerned with the juvenile. The outside agency should also be informed that the information will not be disclosed unless the agency is willing to execute a nondisclosure agreement.

20.5 Response to police record inquiries.

The response and procedure for answering inquiries regarding the police record of a juvenile should be in accordance with Standard 18.3 [Response to juvenile record inquiries].

# PART XXI: CORRECTION OF POLICE RECORDS

# 21.1 Rules providing for the correction of police records.

Each law enforcement agency should promulgate rules and regulations permitting a juvenile or his or her representative to challenge the correctness of a police record pertaining to the juvenile.

# PART XXII: DESTRUCTION OF POLICE RECORDS

# 22.1 Procedure and timing of destruction of police records.

Upon receipt of notice from a juvenile court that a juvenile record has been destroyed or if a juvenile is arrested or detained and has not been referred to a court, a law enforcement agency should destroy all information pertaining to the matter in all records and files, except that if the chief law enforcement officer of the agency, or his or her designee, certifies in writing that certain information is needed for a pending investigation involving the commission of a felony, that information, and information identifying the juvenile, may be retained in an intelligence file until the investigation is terminated or for one additional year, whichever is sooner.

#### APPENDIX D

### MODEL STATUTE ON JUVENILE AND FAMILY COURT RECORDS (1980)

Drafted by the Model Court Systems and Technical Committee of the National Council of Juvenile and Family Court Judges

#### Sec. 106. Law Enforcement Records

- (1) The taking of a child into custody under the provisions hereof shall not be considered an arrest.
- (2) Records and files of a new enforcement agency concerning a juvenile shall not be open for inspection and their contents shall not be disclosed except as provided in this section, or for an offense for which the court has waived, certified, or transferred its jurisdiction over the child to another court.
- (3) Such records may be inspected, and their contents may be disclosed without a court order, to the following:
  - (a) peace officers of this state and other jurisdictions, when necessary for the discharge of their official duties;
  - (b) the judge and professional staff, including juvenile probation officers, of a juvenile court or of a juvenile or family court in another jurisdiction having the child currently before it in any proceeding;
  - (c) the child, his or her counsel, parent, guardian, custodian and guardian ad litem;
  - (d) the designated representative or any agency, association, facility or institution which has custody of

the child, or is responsible for the care, treatment, or supervision of the child pursuant to a court order;

- (e) a court in which the child has been convicted of a public offense in connection with a pre-sentence report or dispositional proceedings.
- (4) Pursuant to court order, such records may be inspected by, and their contents may be disclosed to, the following:
  - (a) a person conducting bona fide research under such conditions as the court may deem proper, provided that no personal identifying data shall be disclosed to such a person;
  - (b) persons who have a direct interest in a proceeding or in the work of the court;
  - (c) victims, including their subrogees, and/or legal representatives.
- (5) A child shall not be photographed or fingerprinted by a law enforcement agency without the prior order of the court, and without a showing of good cause, unless the court waives its jurisdiction over the child.
- (6) Files of children shall be kept separate from those of adults, and copies shall not be placed in any central data storage system.

(7) All juvenile records of all law enforcement agencies shall be destroyed upon the juvenile attaining the upper age of the original jurisdiction of the court, unless, upon application of such agency and for good cause shown, the court authorizes retention of such records. Provided, however, that upon petition of the record subject, the court upon good cause shown, may order the destruction of such records at any time.

## APPENDIX E

#### MODEL JUVENILE DELINQUENCY ACT (1987)

Drafted by the Rose Institute of State and Local Government and the American Legislative Exchange Council

### RECORDS

#### Section 91. Open Records

 (A) All records other than the social file shall be open to public inspection, unless sealed or expunged pursuant to Sections 92 or 95. The social file shall be confidential and may be released only as provided in Sections 93 and 94.

(B) Upon motion to the court, the prosecutor, defense counsel, law enforcement agencies, and juvenile and adult probation agencies may obtain the social file if the court is satisfied that such file is necessary for ongoing investigatory purposes. The social file shall remain confidential in the hands of such persons.

(C) A diversion agreement shall be recorded in the social file as of the date the agreement was executed.

### Section 92. Sealing of Records

- (A) As used in Sections 91 to 96, "seal a record" means to remove a record from the main file of similar records and to secure it in a separate file that contains only sealed records and that is accessible only to the court. A record that is sealed shall be destroyed by all juvenile justice or care agencies except the court.
- (B) Upon motion to the court by any person previously subject to this Act

or such person's parents or guardian, and upon reasonable notice to all interested parties including the victim, the court may seal all records of any juvenile justice or care agency in the case under the following conditions:

- 1) Two years have elapsed from the later of
  - a) The final discharge of such person from the supervision of any agency charged with supervising juvenile offenders, or
  - b) The date of an order of the court, and
- 2) No court or criminal proceeding is pending against such person;
- 3) No proceeding is pending which involves the establishment of a diversion agreement with the person; and

4) The juvenile has never been convicted of [list serious felonies].

#### Section 93. Inspection and Correction

(A) Upon motion to the court and reasonable notice to all interested parties, any person who reasonably believes that he or she is included in the records of a juvenile justice or care agency and who has been denied access to those records by the agency may move the court for an order authorizing that person to inspect such records. The court shall grant the motion to examine records unless it finds that in the best interest of justice or of such person the records or parts of them should remain confidential.

(B) Upon motion to the court and reasonable notice to all interested parties, any person who reasonably believes that he or she is included in the records of a juvenile justice or care agency may challenge the accuracy of any information concerning such person in the record or challenge the agency's continued possession of the record. If the court grants the motion, it shall order the record or information corrected or destroyed.

### Section 94. Treatment and Research Inspection

(A) The court may permit inspection of records by, or release of information to, any clinic, hospital, or agency which has the subject person under care or treatment, or to individuals or agencies engaged in legitimate research for educational, scientific, or public purposes. This includes records sealed pursuant to Section 92.

(B) Access to records or information for research purposes shall be permitted only if the anonymity of all persons mentioned in the records or information will be preserved. Each person granted permission to inspect juvenile justice or care agency records for research purposes shall present a notorized statement to the court stating that the names of juveniles and parents or guardian will remain confidential.

- (C) Except as otherwise provided in this section, records retained or produced by any juvenile justice or care agency may be released to other participants in the juvenile justice or care system and to the adult criminal justice system unless the court explicitly orders otherwise.
- (D) Violation of this section shall be a [misdemeanor].

#### Section 95. Expungement of Records

- (A) As used in Sections 95 and 96,
   "expunge a record" means to destroy the record or file of the juvenile.
- In the event a delinquency proceeding **(B)** against a juvenile is terminated in favor of such juvenile, all juvenile justice and care agencies shall expunge all records other than the official court file of a juvenile in connection with a given case and not make them available to any person or public or private agency, unless any interested party including the court, upon written motion with not less that [eight] days notice to such juvenile, demonstrates to the court that the interests of justice require that such records not be expunged.
- (C) For the purposes of this section, a delinquency proceeding shall be considered terminated in favor or a juvenile if

1) The petition is withdrawn;

- No petition has been filed within the applicable period of limitations;
- 3) The petition is dismissed; or

44

- 4) The juvenile has not been diverted or charged with any offense within twelve months from the date the juvenile completes a diversion agreement.
- (D) Every juvenile justice or care agency shall develop procedures for the routine destruction of all expunged records other than the official court file.

#### Section 96. Effect of Expungement

- (A) Whenever a record is sealed and remains sealed or is expunged, with respect to the matter in which the record was sealed or expunged, the proceedings in the case shall be treated as if they never occurred, and the person the subject of the record and his or her parent or guardian may inform any person or organization including employers, banks, credit companies, insurance companies, and schools that he or she was not taken into custody, did not appear before the court, did not enter into any diversion agreement, or was not adjudicated delinquent.
- **(B)** Any agency shall reply to any inquiry concerning sealed records that records are confidential and that no information can be given about the existence or nonexistence or records concerning an individual. The court shall authorize a person the subject of sealed records to inspect such records only upon such person's request. (C) The [Department of Motor Vehicles] shall, in its discretion, be exempt from any or all of the provisions of this section for records of a juvenile relating to adjudication or diversion for violations of Sections 97 to 103 [Alcohol Related Charges], or any municipal ordinance proscribing driving under the influence of intoxicants.

(D) Nothing in this section may be construed to prevent the victim or members of the victim's family from divulging the identity of the alleged or proven juvenile offender or his or her family when necessary in a civil proceeding, or to limit the use of a prior adjudication or diversion when otherwise permissible under state or federal law.

### APPENDIX F

## MODEL INTERAGENCY JUVENILE RECORD STATUTE OF THE NATIONAL SCHOOL SAFETY CENTER (1988)<sup>1</sup>

A. The following records are confidential and shall not be released to the general public except as permitted by this statute:

1. Juvenile court records, which include both legal and social records (Legal records include petitions, dockets, motions, findings, orders and other papers filed with the court other than social records. Social records include social studies and medical, psychological, clinical or other treatment reports or studies filed with the court);

2. Juvenile social service, child protective service agency or multidisciplinary team records, whether contained in court files or in agency files (This includes all records made by any public or private agency or institution that now has or has had the child or the child's family under its custody, care or supervision.);

- 3. Juvenile probation agency records, whether contained in court files or in probation agency files;
- 4. Juvenile parole agency records, whether contained in court files or in parole agency files;

- 5. Juvenile prosecutor, state attorney, district attorney or county attorney records relating to juvenile cases;
- 6. Juvenile law enforcement records, including fingerprints and photographs; and
- 7. School records that are maintained by school employees on all students, including but not limited to, academic, attendance, behavior and discipline records.

B. Access to the records listed in Section A is permitted without court order for official use to the following:

- 1. All courts;
- 2. All probation or parole agencies;
- 3. All attorneys general, prosecutors, state attorneys, district attorneys, county attorneys;
- 4. All social service or protective service agencies or multi-disciplinary teams;
- 5. All law enforcement agencies;

their jobs as they work in an official capacity with youths and their families." The focus of the statute is restricted to the sharing of records among child-serving agencies and does not concern itself with the broader issue of public access to juvenile records.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The National School Safety Center has proposed this model juvenile record-sharing statute for the stated purpose of "foster[ing] the sharing of information among those organizations and agencies that need information from juvenile records to adequately perform

- 6. All schools attended by the minor; and
- 7. All persons, agencies or institutions that have responsibility for the custody, care, control or treatment of the minor.

C. The juvenile court may issue an order releasing juvenile records to any person, agency or institution asserting a legitimate interest in a case or in the proceedings of the juvenile court.

D. Juvenile records may be sent to a central repository, which may be computerized. The central repository may be accessed by all agencies and organizations listed in Section B above.

E. The juvenile, the juvenile's parents and guardians and the juvenile's attorney may have access to the legal records maintained on the juvenile that are in the possession of the juvenile court without court order. The juvenile's attorney may have access to the social records maintained on the juvenile that are in the possession of the juvenile court and to the records listed in Section A above for use in the legal representation of the juvenile. The juvenile on whom records are maintained may petition the court to correct any information that is incorrect.

### APPENDIX G

15

#### SAMPLE FORMS

Appendix G consists of several sample forms which were submitted as attachments to the law enforcement surveys. Each of the examples presented is specifically designed for juvenile matters and contains provisions for information which is peculiar to a juvenile proceeding.

The forms are as follows:

**G.1.** Juvenile Contact Form. Note items 32-36 which describe the offense for which the juvenile was contacted.

**G.2.** Juvenile Arrest and Information Sheet. Note that the sheet includes provisions for recording the disposition of the arrest.

**G.3.** Application for Juvenile Court Petition. Note the "Disposition of Petition Application" provisions.

**G.4.** Juvenile Complaint/Referral. Note the items relating to the offense description and statute reference.

**G.5.** Juvenile Intake Disposition Report and Affidavit in Support of Request to File Petition. Note that the information from all agencies involved in the case is consolidated in one form. Note also the detailed information required from the District Attorney when a case is closed.

**G.6.** Juvenile Record Summary. Note the provisions for both police dispositions and court dispositions.

**G.7.** Juvenile Record Information Card. Note the provisions for recording dispositions.

G.8. Juvenile Fingerprint Card. Note the manner in which the card is identified as a juvenile record. The "JUVENILES" notations on the actual card are red.

**G.9.a.** and **G.9.b.** Petition and Order for the sealing of juvenile records and files. Note the information contained in the Petition and the agencies included in the Order.

						1. 5051	
	L LOCA BANK	121	Massa			6 (1)	· · ·
	A ALANG / KITER BANJETA	1. Raili 67 Berry		& FLACT CP 8CTTN		7. JUL & FOR OFFICE VOR	
	a accuración de articule april a			GW	FYAN		
	6 80403/ CHARGETELISTICS	······································	10. 620	11. 533	18. A2421		LWY ] KCCPACCO ] HCCAACODACCO
	14. CTT2200 14. MC32217 14. 1972	C147 17. MdC3.	16 5703	N. COMPLETIN	N. KOLININ	N. 820002	
form	EL FATRETO MALT	ACCRES	U. UT, AFT A		RESISTING PROM	RECORDER P	1995-1
	EL CUTTOURS RACE	ACCELS	9. 51. MT A		ESSERIES Property	CONNERS P	N-2013
contact	23. CUSADANSTROPACIONI	A006723	9. 67, 421 A		Contraction Account	FUTZIERS F	
Sen a	EL RADRATIVE OFFICERS REMARDS PARTY		,	1227-1921-1-102-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1	Andrewski a T		isti i pytemieti i dana pary <u>s</u> tri filinia i apri r
				**************************************	بالكالي بيبية عندية الباي ويتقادهم		an a
Juvonilo	990-111-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-1		an in an		an dia mandra dia kaominina	i annan an an Arlanda an Arlanda an Arlanda an Arl	an an an Arland I. An an an an an Arland Argan.
A			an a	Chairman an an Albanah Million M		ann an an an Anna an An	n gang tinang Kili tinggan gan Mili mangag 1
	EL CACO / RECEBCINT AGTICS		ang tan Tillian ang ang Tilan ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang a				Constant af the second second second
	CIPTURAL PARENT	g	POTTONER CALL	MAN'S CONTERIPALS	LY COURT		ralit —Joisty Ralit — Fiijj
	77. PARENTAL RELEASE: 1/wo horo	by give permission for	a selected age	ancy to give per	tinent informati	on about my/our	child to the
	Rochoster Police Department. Su Intako.	ch information may inc	luda school or	modical history,	summary of to	sting, treatmont a	nd/er social
- -	YOUTH		PARENT	NAIGRAUD RO	a Intel Second State		
on:	עם אלפונים בסוגיינט כד בנכניבות ג כוענת אראגאאני	23 / DATE	:	2	RCLATRONING		
department		GL APTERTS					
0		a ca Carte - La	61403 · 94762377	5.67		Canal 10 au	ED 200793
000							
lc@			· ·				
boli	B-		CI 4013	203	an a	ALCON	
1 2 2	E-70763		and the second secon				XCI Fac:1
5	1			<del>نې يې کې در د کې در پې د کې د</del>		C.(202	ace fraction
10184	6776233 8443			<u> </u>			
chestel	Enteriores		63 (405) ACOS				2) F728803
rochestel				23	-22	AD250	23 Filing 1997 Filing
rocheste	<b>REFLORES</b>		ACCER	23		Cuerta Cuerta Cuerta	23 F=2003 982 F=3003 03 F002103
rochestel	CLERONIA WIRHCCCC		AC024	223	- 25		23 Francis 1983 Francis 29 Francis 29 Francis 20 Francis
rochestel	0.54.0763 1977:5523 5556:753	/ #	1000A	223			23 Franci 1983 Francis 29 Francis 29 Francis 29 Francis
rocheste		/ #	23 ASC2	223			23 Franci 1983 Francis 29 Francis 29 Francis 29 Francis 29 Francis
rochester	ELFRATES ERFRECTS ESFRATES ERFRELS ERFRATES		ACCC 23 ACCC 23 ACCC 23 ACCC 24 ACCC		i ii i		23 Franci 1983 Francis 29 Francis 29 Francis 29 Francis 29 Francis

	KNOX	COUNTY SHI	ERIFF'S E			• •
	JUVENIL	e arrest an	ND INFOR	MATION	SHEET	
Subject's Name	I unt	First	na a marca and a faith a sub-	Middle	Nickname	9 entlensterneterenteretert
						State
						Sex Raco
						(Circle One) Yes N
Hair Color I	low Worn	Eycs annu	.Height	Weight		
Searc-Marks-Tattoo				Subject Wa	s (Circlo Or	10) Arrested-Dataine
Place of Detention (	(Circie One) Dot	ontion Home-Jai	il i			
Dato of Arrest	Time o	f Arrest	Place o	f Arrest-		31-11-14-14-14-14-14-14-14-14-14-14-14-14
(Circlo Ono)						
Witness or Victim .		Addres	0			Phone
Witness or Victim		Addres	ð			- Phone
14 SCORDON 44 4 5005505 6						
Specific Charges — GIVE DETAILED I	DISCRIPTION	OF CHARGES A	ND ARRES	T (VEHICL	es, propi	<u>a da manana da secona da manana da m</u>
Specific Charges — GIVE DETAILED I	DISCRIPTION	OF CHARGES A	ND ARRES	T (VEHICL	es, propi	
Specific Charges — GIVE DETAILED I Father's Name —	DISCRIPTION	OF CHARGES A	ND ARRES	T (VEHICL	ES, PROPI	
Specific Charges — GIVE DETAILED I Father's Name —	DISCRIPTION	OF CHARGES A	ND ARRES	T (VEHICL	ES, PROPI	n de la composition d
Specific Charges — GIVE DETAILED I Father's Name Mother's Name Were Parents Notifi	DISCRIPTION (	OF CHARGES A - Address - Address - Address - By V	ND ARRES	T (VEHICL	ES, PROPI	
Specific Charges — GIVE DETAILED   Father's Name Mother's Name Were Parents Notifi Arresting Officer(s)	DISCRIPTION (	OF CHARGES A - Addross - Addross - Addross - Timo By V	ND ARRES	T (VEHICL	ES, PROPI	
Specific Charges — GIVE DETAILED I Father's Name Mother's Name Were Parents Notifi Arresting Officer(0) Transporting Officer	DISCRIPTION ( icd ?	OF CHARGES A _ Addroso _ Addroso Timo By V	ND ARRES	T (VEHICL	ES, PROPI	
Specific Charges — GIVE DETAILED I Father's Namo Mother's Namo Were Paronto Notifi Arresting Officer(s) Transporting Officer(s)-	DISCRIPTION ( icd ?	OF CHARGES A - Addroso - Addroso Timo By V	ND ARRES		ES, PROPI	
Specific Charges — GIVE DETAILED I Father's Name Mother's Name Were Parents Notifi Arresting Officer(s) Transporting Officer(s)-	DISCRIPTION ( icd ?	OF CHARGES A - Addroso - Addroso Timo By V	ND ARRES	T (VEHICL	ES, PROPI	
Specific Charges — GIVE DETAILED I Fathor's Name Mother's Name Were Parents Notifi Arresting Officer(s) Transporting Officer(s) Juvenile Officer(s)- DO NOT WRITE B	DISCRIPTION ( icd ? or(a) ELOW THIS LI	OF CHARGES A - Address - Address - Address - By V NE-FOR JUVEN	ND ARRES	T (VEHICL	ES, PROPI	
Specific Charges — GIVE DETAILED I Father's Name Mother's Name Were Parents Notifi Arresting Officer(s) Transporting Officer(s)- Juvenile Officer(s)- DO NOT WRITE B HOW RELEASED	DISCRIPTION icd ?	OF CHARGES A - Addross - Addross - Timo By V NE-FOR JUVEN BOND	ND ARRES	T (VEHICL	ES, PROPI	
Specific Charges — GIVE DETAILED I Father's Name Mother's Name Were Parents Notifi Arresting Officer(s) Transporting Officer(s)- Juvenile Officer(s)- DO NOT WRITE B HOW RELEASED	DISCRIPTION ( icd ? pr(a) ELOW THIS LI D (CIRCLE ON)	OF CHARGES A - Address - Address - Address - Address - By V NE-FOR JUVEN BOND 	ND ARRES	T (VEHICL	es, propi	

APPLICATION FOR JU (Affidavit, Sect	ion 653 W&I Code)		IL BOORED
INOR'S NAME (Pless Print)	LADDA655	AGE LOOG	
			·
OTHER'S NAME	ACCAESS	HOME PHONE	WORK PHONE
ATHER'S NAME	ADORESO	HOME PHONE	WORK PHONE
UARDIAN OR RELAYIVE'S NAME	ADOA609	HOMEPHONE	WORK PHONE
ayu, yimu and place of arrest		DATE AND TIME PA	AUNTO NOTIFIED
			a teache difference il processo processo della companya della companya della companya della companya della comp
Minor Manberbous Not Manb Physis	cal or mental attention. Explain if new	101:	an Tanan Sanaga kangguning mening dalam Palances M
William Constraint States of Principal States and a state of the state			
			acalles to the
APPLICANT'S NAM		ADENCY	, applies to the
	ay for proceedings in the Ventura Cou and Institutions Code. Minor is/was res		a juvenile Court under
Charge(s):			
Basic facts of Offense(s) are:			
	Manna Cometana an Barra	Cidal	
an a	(Pleses Continue on Reverse		
I declare, under penalty of	perjury, that the foregoing facts are tru	ie and correct to the best of m	knowledge.
Executed this day of	, 19, at		, Callfornia.
		APPLICANT'U SIGNA	<b>An 1 10 18</b>
17 <b>12 17 14 1 2 14 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1</b>		APPLICANT'U SIGNA	**************************************
	DISPOSITION OF PETITION AN	PLICATION	
so Namo		on Date	
<ol> <li>Affidavit taken to prosocuting atto</li> <li>Informal program initiated.</li> </ol>		•	
	a. Insufficient evidence.	e. Referred to U.S. De	
	b. Insufficient probable cause. c. Referred to C.Y.A.	f. Referred to out of g. Interest of Justice.	
	d. Referred to P.S.S.A.	h. Other	

		IN						TE OF ARIZONA DIVISION	1 1		
							IT/REFE				
LADY HANG			FIRST		MICOL		RACE	CITIZENEMIP		XBC	A08
ARA						· .	DIATH FLA	ca l		REATHDAT	T (DOS)
KEICHY	WORKIT	MALA	EYES	SCARS C	a maars		<u> </u>				
NODA BRICH	M CKA CREA	ALLING ADORI	183 · CITY AF	9 272 COD	,				MOGE	PHONE	an a stranin stranin in the
AVENULS A	<u>381068 1971)</u>	1		un gurar se				<mark>na na sana sa kata na s</mark> a sa	RELAT	10:000	
FLATVERAL P	ARENTR/CU/	RCIAH						ARENTE/GUARDIAN HO	TIPIOT		
PALISIMENO	ulandian ad	CA889 · CITY	' and 209 CQD	3 (11 CHares	I from North		officen: Date/Thee:	PARENTS PHONE		002#0168 P	BACHE
ANTHALFO	ORAPOASU	· .	,	anna a taithin 2000				school	·		GRADE
OFFE						والمتحديد و					
TIME	DATE	. 0	OFFENSE ESCRIPTION		A.R.S. NO;	CLASS.		OFFENSE LOCATION		OLICE	CONNECT-UP REPORT NO
					: 						
					; ////////////////////////////////////				+		: -
							: 		1		
		ی کار است در بیش زیدگان این این این این این این این این این ا									
COSPENSA		and the second secon	an in an		C:10	Pantac	L COMMITTO				
COLLARS OF											
See See	DR Att	achod						<u></u>			
						· .	 is-unuin				
REFERAING	AOFICY		en de sete de sete de la des		RCIC	مانتورین واشاهای	DATE OF C		· .		
Phoenix	<b>Police</b>	Departri -(officer) ·	PLEASE PRINT		AZ 00			OF COMPLAINANT (OF	FICER)		1
	IF DETENT	ION REQUE	STED STATE	REASON	ISEE RÚL	E J. ARIZ	ONA RULES	OF PROCEDURE FOR	KUVER	IIIE(COUR)	
(2) (3)	тнат не тнат не	IS LIKELY MUST BE I	HELD FOR	T AN OFF ANOTHER	ENSE IN	JURIOU	S TO HIMS OR	SELF OR OTHERS;			
(4) EXPLANA		INTEREST	OF THE C	HILD OR	THE PU	BLIC RE	QUIRE CU	ISTODIAL PROTEC	FION.		
	Ingu	14660 TO		and a second	RELATION	знір		ADDRESS AND ZIP CC	oa	بالمحمد بينوني مواسط الما - الأسموم أين مواد معين الألوام	PHONE
GETAIN	· ·			ang sa ta							
		PROBAT	ION OFFIC	E COPY						•	

Sand 2 capies of Police Record with this completed form to Protestion Officer. ALAMEDA COUNTY JUVENILE INTAKE DISPOSITION REPORT Appidavit in support of request to file petition under section 602 Wal The undersigned hereby declares, upon information and bellef: That ha is a .... . of the ... Celifornia. That on \_ (Data) a minor. (Name) . , ego \_\_\_\_\_, who was within the County of Alameda, State of California, or residing therein. DOR: did come within the provisions of Soction 602 of the Wetlane and Institutions Code of the State of California by committing the crime(s) of ... That said minor was created on ... . .m. by . (errest number . The tests minor committed cald choose(s) in the meaner and by the means as est forth and coestibut in the following commonte copies of which documents are attached hereto and incorporated by rolenence as though fully est form. The above case was investigated by \_\_\_\_ That said documents were prepared in the ordinary course of business and pursuant to the sworn duty of the officor(s) subscribing same, and that declarant believes the contents thereof to be true. That the contents of cald documents provide probable cause to believe that the said minor committed sold offense(s). Datest .... ... st ... \_ Alamoda County, California. I decise under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. (Signed) \_\_\_\_ Phone: CO-PARTICIPANTS (Namo) (D.O.@.) (Action Takon) C Folony Miccomconor Police Agency Recommendes 1. 0 2. 0 3. 0 Prior Police Connectes Petition to be filed. (see attached report) 1 Yes D No Matter to be handled informally by Probation (If yes, attean summary) No recommendation Person to be Notified of P.O. Astion INTAKE DISPOSITION (Phono) (Northa) PROBATION OFFICER DISPOSITION 1. C Referred to District Attorney 2. 
Poterral Closed after investigation 3. C Reprimand. Case Closed 4. Reprimand. Continued St Reprimand, Continued Supervision by \_\_\_\_ ..... (Supervising DPO) 5. Closed, Roterred to Other Agency \_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_ 601 Petition Filed 6. S.O.U or 601 W&I \_\_\_\_\_\_ Referred to Service Center \_\_\_\_\_\_ 601 Petition Filed \_\_\_\_\_\_\_ Active to S.O.U. \_\_\_\_\_\_ Closed \_ (Agoncy Namo) 7. Informal Probation (854 W&I Code) Conditiona Promont W.T.A. Restitution &

AGENCY

REFERRING

PROBATION OFFICE

Conditions: 
 Promont W.T.A. 
 Resultation s
 Other:
 Agency:
 Conditions: 
 Promont W.T.A. 
 Resultations: 
 Resultations: 
 Promont W.T.A. 
 Resultations: 
 Resultations: 
 Promont W.T.A. 
 Resultations: 
 Resul

Police Agency notified regarding above decision (REFERRING AGENCY TO BE NOTIFIED WITHIN 21 COURT DAYS OF DATE OF THE ABOVE APPLICATION): Date: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Agency Contact

(GVER-COS COMMOND)

Agency stated intent to appeal to D.A.
 Alter completion of form:
 Return original to referring agency
 Retain copy in P.O. tolder
 Retain copy in P.O. tolder
 Retain copy in P.O. tolder

Coation & below completed by D.D.A.

- I. INTAKE DISPOSITION
  - B. DISTRICT ATTORNEY DISPOSITION
  - 1) D Patition Filed

(Charges)

2) D Position Not Filed

DISTRICT ATTORNEY

(Reason-Bea Bolow) D.D.A.

3) D Probation Officer to Hendla informally

A. (Namo) Intciso Diogo. Dota

N. EVIDENCE/PROPERTY (per D.A.)

Hold Pending Court Discosition Hold Pending Completing Informal Probation May be Released to Owner Photograph May be Destroyed NA

(Telephono)

			<b></b>	and constant a first of the production of the second second second second second second second second second s		Γ
A. COAPUS CONSIDERATIONS	D.A.	. <b>X</b> .	8.	ID. OF DEF. CONSIDERATIONS	D.A.	<b>.</b> #
Conduct Lawful	1			No Evidence	1	Ī
Corpus Evid. Insult.	12			Évidence insufficient	2	<u> </u>
Illegal Search - Drug	3			illegel Seerch - Evid.	3	
Illegal Search - Other	4			Statement Insomissible	4	
				Ald/Abst. Evid. Insuff.	5	I
				Conspirator Evid. Insuff.	6	
an a			<b></b>			<u> </u>
. Proof considerations	0.A.	Z	0.	Defense considerations	D.A.	×
A 44 - 4 - 44 - 44	1			Statute Limitationn	1	
Victim Decilnes	9			Speedy Trial	3	
Victim Unsveileble			And a state of the	Self Datense	3	T
Victim Unsveileblo Vistim Not Crediblo	3		L	CON DOIMING	Marine Marine	
Victim Unsvellebio Victim Not Crcolbio Nec. Wit. Unsvellebio	3			Justifiable Homicide (Other)	4	
Victim Unevelleble Victim Not Credible	3			والمرابع والمتحد والمرابع والمرابع والمرابع والمتحدين والشاطع والمتحد والمتحال والمتكر ويتحار والمتحد والمحد	6	

E. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS	D.A.	n
Pros. Other Chas This Co.	1	
Pros. Other Chas Other Co.	2	
Refer to Probation	3	
Hoter to Parola	4	
Holer to Other Agency	5	

	D.A.	R
DA Citation hearing	6	
DA File Civil Action	7	
Grent Immunity	8	
Interest of Justice - Dof.	0	
Interest of Justice - Other	0	

Other Reason OR Comments Re: Above:

Sample Form G.5 (cont.)

55

128,-7730,-1380.	, ,		498.4237	-13C		· .	#367-000	16 <i>9</i> 7	•				e	1700	V09	ie.		
	a Managara da Santa	(/1407)		(24)	0916/	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	RACE	*	1 *			BATE SAT	0P 018	TH 184		.0. ¤¢		
4000838							1999 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 - 2000 					919791	<b>ST SP</b>	469.	P (	RI# 78	6 PHO	7 60
A 6.5	:		-				DISEMANS.											
PATEGR'S DAME	8						MQAH20.0 H	4					an a	,				a di seconda di second
REPORT DATE	- - -	oppense	;	DIST. Ор Орр.		oppicar/	97 AG NO.	PC	5LI	CE	C			NI	JMB	KE7 12 R		DATE
			· · · · ·										T	Π		Τ		
			: .												Ì			
	-										÷		Τ	Π				
										Ī			Γ	$\prod$				
						, and the second se	Dela de la constanti (n. 277 de la constanta d			Ĩ				Π			T	and The Products
		-										Î						
							and the second secon			Ĩ			T	Π		T		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
860-14.484 (9)	/71):			IIIVE	NILF	190739	ANNUS (	ØΥ	/ **	U TH	01	VISION	n an			areadans		

REPORT	ang this was a set	-			-		0157,		ومفتري				an 19 <b>0</b> .		DIS	PO	517	10	N	[	C	OC UM	XE	7			
DATE	-	Ç	966	'En:	12		0157. Op 077.	101	V 7.H	0 P P	ncar	787	AQ 19 <b>0.</b>	P ( ca	JULI	CE		00	RT lood	7640	R T	Contraction of the local division of the loc		<b>TABLE</b>		DA	TE
and a fille of the second stations.		-							ببيتشالي				n de la constantina d		ĺ						Ī	T	Τ	Γ	Γ		
<u>,</u>		e Maitaige			ويترت ويتركم		21 <b>22</b> 337979				iniony		ange si ta ta pes		Î							ĺ					
·																											
:											1																
			÷ .						1				, ,	-											Γ		
																									Γ		
																	2			-							
	÷									:																	
		1																									
	1997 - 1997 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -					T																				48-37-90-12 T	

	NE . Dre:														931	ſ N.	a.M							5 N 4				61494934 614934934													
СНА	MG	e a	DOI	RE:	53	-	-											-				برواق							:			-	an a la supe	-			<b>Mi</b> kala				
FAT	HER													ρÀ	e			:				Add	dret	5					ì£				-	S.	X				<u></u>	<u>.</u>	
MOT		Vetsbuck				شمجمه				-					-						-		_	-	-					H S											
STER		-				aine ann					-			_		_		-			-	Sch	<u>oci</u>	_		_				He											-
<u>OTM</u>	<u> 8                                   </u>	HIL	<u>086</u>	N	-				-				<u> </u>	: 		_					_	3.611						186	ЯÇ	<u>or</u>				-							<b>C</b> atio
-	19.007.0000	-				-									<b>min</b> ti		_													26							(Canada				-
-			-					:					-			_					-				-			A	<u>11</u>	<u> </u>	N									2010	-
-	a <del>na</del> mai ka	ACC NOT	10.79847					-								-							-	-				18I	<u>cr</u>	NA	MR						120220	-			
						* *																						Lu	YE	W	11H				-						
Name of Street					-		-																			•		B	EM/	188	8										
																					Carrier			-	-																
																																									2.40
		- <u></u>						2900mm			0123004							1912405										l													
11.1.24.1.2																200		-			7050					discont.	لينفقي	1									يتعتبن		ويتصبين		
			940922	ي العد	1730A							-			LABOR C						21 - <b>1</b>							1			منيجه	al se da		-				190100	iona Circy	1.202.00	-
															-					مفنده	-	-		و العاني			نتوجي	1		at Citin		0-1101		-	den na	aine aite					
					-				-			-				-	-											1								00000			1997, 999 B		20
-	antoi gattio							-					-Calabar	0.000		-	-										-	╈							****						
									1000				-			-	فنصبيده		-	****		C62;725		a a substant	-			-	arnize A		0.00					20000	AND NO				-
i se se inclui se	المتحديد ومحداد									-									-					-												(1)100 CEL					-
			-								CHERK .				العنجد					-		and Figure						+											<b>WERE DOLLAR</b>		
INFO	064 A	2000000 1/1/1	SI /7		***				101	B 19	0.0			- inverse									-				-	-				-	-		267)	5.4.4	m N		·····		
No Pie							446		3 94 6	110	9.	ат. 1946 година						_																							
	_																																								
	1	Π	Ĩ	T	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Т	Τ	Т	T	Т	T	T	T	7	1	T	T	T	T			<u> </u>	T	T	T		1	<b>T</b>	-	<b>T</b>	Т	<b>T</b>	1	T	7	<b>~</b>
	12										1				1		1.					1														1	1				
	DISPOSITEON			- 1	1														1	1													1		1				Ľ	1	ŀ
	3	11		1	1				1	1		1	ł.	1						ŀ	1	1			1					1	1	1	Ł					1	ŀ.	l	1
	18				1									1					Ŀ	1			[												1		1	ł			
	8					. [											1				1				-							1	1								
	8								1	1	1								Į	1						1							1								1
																			1		ł		]								1										
2	<u> </u>		┯	┉┽╸	4	4	- <del>ا</del>	4-	╇	-	+	Ļ	ļ.,	4	ļ	4	ļ		Ļ		<u> </u>				_		_	_	Ŀ		ŀ										
5																			[					17	T	1	1	T	T					T	Γ		Γ				
Z.	ø									1					[	[	[ .	1	[	.	(			11	1	1			1	1	1		l I	1	1		1				
8	se 60.				ſ	1							1						l							·															
ы Ш	S										1	Ι.					ļ.									1								l							1
200	Ca		. (					1	1	1	1					ł	ł	1							1		- 1		1	1	1	1			ŀ						
E .											1	1																				1		1							
2					-E		1.																							1										1	
	-				L	L	1																						1	1											
E I		IT	T	Т	T	T	T	Γ	Γ	T	Γ	1	<b>—</b>	П								1		+	7	-+	Ť		+	†		ŕ			-	<u> </u>				-	15405
record in the anemile oraficm					1		1															- 1								ŀ.				1							
ă	OFFEMSE					1	1	1	1	]											ļ		1							1									- 1		
2	Ë													[ [					· [	. (		- 1	- 1				-1	4	1												
81	19. 19.			1.																																					
W.	ð		1																				-1																		
6			-   -			1	1											1	. 1				1		1		- 1	1													
·										Ľ											- 1							·						ł							
- I			ᆗᅳ	-	┿	+	┢	Ļ	_	_	_	_		_		_	_																								
	- I			T		1	1											ļ	Ţ	T	1	T	T	Γ	Γ	T	T	Γ				T	Ĩ			T	T	Î	T	Ť	
	pal	1				1							_ [	- [	-{		-1	1	1	1		1	. [	1.	1	1	1	1			ļ	1	- 1		l	- [	4	1	- f		
	DATE		I										. I						1								ļ				1		1	- 1			1				-
	à	. 1		-		1	1							1									1		1	1		1										1			.
				1	1	1	1.			1	1	- 1	1	1	1			1		1		1	1	1		1		1				- 1			-1	1	1	-{	1	1	
						1							- 1				- 1			- {						1		1				1		1				.			
- Caralla	and the local division of the local division	-	-	-	-		Contractory of the local division of the loc		بالغبيب	-onde	بايصد	-		_	_	_		_	_ ا	ماسب	_1			_	1	1		1	1. (		- (	3	- 1	f	- 1	- 1	- 1	1	- 1	1	

	5% et.	5 x 25			3.730	.u	1	. n		594				States the states
5. Street No. 6. Stre	et Nome			7.0	Lity/Stone	Address		للمنيحي			<u>- 9</u>			
9. Allas or Maiden Na	(hg	الفيرية ابتاعيتان		10. Floor	of Eirsh (	Hero er Ce	ountry)	<u>]11.</u>	12 10	cumila Ca	antrol No.	•		
13. Date of Birm (M/ D/Y)	14, Age	15. Sea	Id. Race	Skiller 3. Ho	* <b>* *</b> **	8 20. H.	Haight	21. Weigh						
22. Arrest Officer ID. N	ka. 2.	3. Arresni	ng Agen arti	améri		212			25.1	Arrest	140. J.J	26. Contribute	tereo Poli	4029080
27. Date of Arrest	28. Place	of Arrest	(City & State							D. Jing o	Arney	MINEC	LA NY 11	501
31. Date of Offense	32. Place	of Offens	e (City, Cou	nry & State)		33.				14. Type	Arosa	1 No. Court of 1	site in (See Inst	ructions)
36. Low Section I	No. 500	CI. 2	2 Ca Dog	Nom	e of Offen	10	Chi	NCICC	200	77 Age		39. Property Inval	e No. 40.	
			╈									41. Social Socurity	No. 42.	1933.2 <sup>10</sup>
(\$)			╈╋				++					43. Signature of A		ing any line of the second
44. Arrest Agency Cos	o No.	12	Richthoday	45. No	, of Offen	No. of Concession, name		43. No. c	Vicilim		and the second se	<u>×</u>	Te su totale	<del>مرجعين ومناروعية مر</del> يوروم
I. Right Thumb		2	Right Index		. 2	. Night Mit	6510			4. Right	Elng		S. Right Unio	
6. Left Thumb		7.	Loft Index	د ملالي بينان التي ويتان		Left Mide	\$\$0			9. Lott R	ing		10. Loft Little	**************************************
													a ser e ser	
					·									
Left Four Pingers Tells	n Simulian	south		and the second secon	Lot The	ETIKO .		Right The	nn)		Right For	w Fingers Takon S	multaneously	برسالة ب <sub>الم</sub> يرينية على بوسطانة <sub>المو</sub> مدية
				:										
		hingsham	-	1	-		दुव्यम्	anit Idee	कुरुस्य	ALL CALLER	History		New York Providence	ardier and the state
(Per Pi	praces Plage	eveniated	Porswood Te F	ON CARD		معمماءة	ini A,	Teer eff e luii nsrue	tions - l	Plaasa pri	ni or iype	DIA Ford		12- 50) J (Gev. 1/ 78)
	satel Aut	mority I	Protonting	J.D. Potitic		2. 501	-	s complete 3. Control	No.				nied ror (we emesi)	
		-			<b>8</b> - 20			50	59	446	Y			
4. Dona of Dirnh (M	(D/Y)		S. NYS			A. No						San		
7. Fertimulo Contr	oi No.					ł	家に					15.044	Some (s) filed	
B a. For PROBATH	ON USE .	Adjustn	monts / Tor	minctions	and a state of the s		2.0	1.000	0310 0	I Adhvom	ent/: niget	i 10. Signapure	of Rebailion Office	
	djustod/"	Termino	Had By Prot	otion - No F	omily Co	urt Patiti	on File					X	8	
C 11. For COVER						•	ounsel		2. Dole	of Action		13, Signature	of Official	
No for	mily Cour	T Petilio	n Filed As	The Result O	in the second second		•	***				x		
(Chock A)	ppropriot	o item)			ļ		-							

#### IN THE JUVENILE COURT OF COLUMBUS, GEORGIA

In the interest of	FILE NUMBER
	\$&X
SOCIAL SECURITY NO.	AGE
	DATE OF BIRTH

# TO THE JUVENILE COURT OF COLUMBUS, GEORGIA

1. Your petitioner alleges that	the above-named	person to i	be of the	sox and age	and to have the
name there set forth:			ан сайта. 1917 - 1917 - 1917 - 1917 - 1917 - 1917 - 1917 - 1917 - 1917 - 1917 - 1917 - 1917 - 1917 - 1917 - 1917 - 1917 -		
that the father of the above is _		Alto-altika (1999-1999-1999-1999-1999-1999-1999-199			
who resides at					nagailean naganga supulatin kanata ta kata T
the mother is				interior in the second second second	
who realdes ist				an at all states and states and to state	
sold named porson resides at _	Linderstaninis iniziane p <sup>i</sup> re				-
in said county and state, and is	in the actual cus	tody, posse	ssion, and	control	

who resides at \_\_\_

of

that said parson makes application to the Court for an Order scaling his files and records by reason of the facts sat forth below that the above-named person is subject to the jurisdiction of this Court and the above facts of this application are within the jurisdiction of this Court; that the within application is filed in the bast interest of the public and the within-named person.

2. That more than two (2) years have elapsed since the above-named was finally discharged from the jurisdiction of this Court for any cause or the Department of Human Resources, Division of Family and Children Services.

3. That since the find discharge he has not been convicted of a follow or of a misdemeaner inceiving more turpitude or adjudicated a delinquent or unruly child and no proceeding is pending seeking conviction or adjudication.

4. That he has been rehabilitated.

5. Petitioner requests that all files, records, fingerprints, photographs, and any reference to some be sealed, the same being in the best interest and welfare of the above-named person and of the community.

Patitioner prays that process issue and notice be directed to all parties according to law requiring them to show cause why said application should not be granted.

PETITIONER

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME

THIS \_\_\_\_\_\_ DAY OF \_\_\_\_\_\_, 19\_\_\_\_\_,

NOTARY PUBLIC, MUSCOGEE COUNTY, GEORGIA

6420-014 8/70

#### IN THE JUVENILE COURT OF COLUMBUS, SEORGIA

In the Interest of	FILE NUMOSA
Social Security NO.	A@8
	DATE OF SIRTH

# ORDER

Position having been filed in this Court on \_\_\_\_\_\_ by the absvo-nemed individual moving the Court seal his/her records in the Juvenile Court and that the necessary parties be notified as to the scaling of his/her record; proper notice having been made to the Department of Human Resources, District Attorney, and Low Enforcement Department of said city and county in second-anea with Section 26A-2504 of the Georgia Juvenile Court Code of 1971, as amended.

The investigation revealing that no further action has been brought seainst this individual in the Juvenile Court of Columbus, Georgia, since \_\_\_\_\_\_, and no edjections having been filed in regard to said patition, the said patition is hareby granted, and

IT IS ORDERED that all recerds in the Juvonão Court of Coumbus, Goorgia, in the State Department of Human Resources, Sheriff's Department, Police Department, and in any other law enforcement agency with regard to any reference to sold individual of offense brought in the Juvanile Court of Columbus, Georgia, including all index references, reports, files, fingerprints, or memorands, and sold record of sold individual be and is hereby sealed and treated as if it never occurred.

This \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 19 \_\_\_\_.

JUDGE, JUVENILE COURT OF COLUMEUS, GEORGIA

3420-010 5/76

#### APPENDIX H

# AGE AT WHICH JUVENILE STATUS FOR JUVENILE DELINQUENTS TERMINATES<sup>1</sup>

AGE 16	AGE 17	AGE 18	AGE 19
Connecticut	Georgia	Alabama	Wyoming
District of Columbia <sup>2</sup>	Illinois	Alaska	
New York	Louisiana	Arizona	
North Carolina	Massachusetts	Arkansas	
Vermont	Missouri	California	
	South Carolina	Colorado	
	Texas	Delaware	
analasian ang sa		District of Columbia <sup>3</sup>	-
		Florida	
		Hawaii	
		Idaho	
		Indiana	1
		lowa	
		Kansas	
		Kentucky	
		Maine	
		Maryland	
		Michigan	
		Minnesota	
		Mississippi	
······································		Montana	
		Nebraska	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Nevada	
		New Hampshire	
		New Jersey	
		New Mexico	
		North Dakota	
		Ohio	
		Oklahoma	
		Oregon	
		Pennsylvania	
		Rhode Island	
		South Dakota	
		Tennessee	· ·
		Utah	
		Virginia	
		Washington	
		West Virginia	
		Wisconsin	
an a		United States4	
Total=5	Total=7	Total=40	Total=1

#### APPENDIX H (cont.)

#### Footnotes

<sup>1</sup> Some states may extend juvenile status beyond the age limits stated here for individuals who are alleged to be children in need of supervision. See, e.g., VT. STAT. ANN. tit. 33, § 632(a)(1).

<sup>2</sup> This age limit is limited to individuals charged with murder, forcible rape, burglary in the first degree, robbery while armed, or assault with intent to commit any of the enumerated offenses. It also includes individuals charged with one of the enumerated offenses which is joined with another offense, to those who subsequently plead or are found guilty of a lesser included offense, and to individuals charged with a traffic offense. D.C. CODE § 16-2301(3).

<sup>3</sup> This age limit does not apply for certain enumerated offenses. See id.

<sup>4</sup> This age limit is applicable to those adjudicated under the jurisdiction of the federal courts. 18 U.S.C.A. § 5031.

# APPENDIX I

# STATUTORY AUTHORITY TO FINGERPRINT JUVENILES

01-1-	
State	Statutory Citation
Alabama	ALA. CODE §12-15-102
Alaska	1988 ALASKA SESS. LAWS, chap. no. 121
Arizona*	
Arkansas	ARK. STAT. ANN. §45-419
California	CAL. WELF. & INST. CODE §240 (Deering) <sup>1</sup>
Colorado	COLO. RULES OF JUV. P. 9.1 (1975) <sup>2</sup>
Connecticut	CONN. GEN. STAT. ANN. §46b-133 (Supp. 1986) (West)
Delaware	DEL. CODE tit. 10, §930 <sup>3</sup>
District of Columbia	D.C. CODE §16-2334 <sup>4</sup>
Florida	FLA. STAT. §39.031
Georgia	GA. CODE §15-11-60
Hawaii	HAW. REV. STAT. §571-74 <sup>5</sup>
Idaho	IDAHO CODE §16-1811(6) (Cum. Supp. 1987)
Illinois	ILL. REV. STAT. ch. 37, §702-8(B) (Cum.Supp. 1987) (Smith-Hurd) <sup>6</sup>
Indiana	IND. CODE §31-6-8-1.5
lowa	IOWA CODE §232.148
Kansas	KAN. STAT. §38-1611
Kentucky	KY. REV. STAT. ANN. §610.220(d) (Baldwin) (eff. 7/1/87)
Louisiana	L A. CODE JUV. PRO., Art. 36 (West)
Maine	ME. REV. STAT. tit. 25, 1542(1)(B) (Supp. 1986)
Maryland	1 MD. RULES, 909(6)(c) <sup>7</sup>
Massachusetts*	
Michigan*	
Minnesota	MINN. STAT. §299C.10
Mississippi	MISS. CODE ANN. §43-21-255
Missouri	MO. REV. STAT. §211.151(3)
Montana	MONT. REV. CODES ANN. §41-5-304(1)(a)
Nebraska	NEB. REV. STAT. §43-252
Nevada	NEV. REV. STAT. §62.265
New Hampshire*	
New Jersey	N.J. REV. STAT. §2A:4A-61
New Mexico	N.M. STAT. ANN. §32-1-27
New York	N.Y. FAM. CT. ACT §306.1 (McKinney)
North Carolina*	
North Dakota	N.D. CENT. CODE §27-20-53(1) (Supp. 1985)
Ohio	OHIO REV. CODE ANN. §2151.313 (Supp. 1986) (Anderson)
Oklahoma	OKLA. STAT. ANN. tit. 10, §1127 (Cum. Supp. 1987) (West)
Óregon	OR. REV. STAT. §419.584
Pennsylvania	42 PA. CONS. STAT. ANN. §6308(c) (Cum. Supp. 1987) (Purdon)

### APPENDIX I (cont.)

State	Statutory Citation
Rhode Island* <sup>8</sup>	
South Carolina	S.C. CODE §20-7-780
South Dakota	S.D. COMPILED LAWS ANN. §26-8-19.6
Tennessee	TENN. CODE ANN. §37-1-155
Texas	TEX. FAM. CODE tit. 3, §51.15
Utah	UTAH CODE ANN. §78-3a-55
Vermont	VT. STAT. ANN. tit. 33, §664
Virginia	VA. CODE §16.1-299
Washington	WASH. REV. CODE ANN. §13.04.130 (Cum. Supp. 1987)
West Virginia	W.VA. CODE §49-5-17(a) <sup>9</sup>
Wisconsin*	
Wyoming	WYO. STAT. §14-6-240
United States	18 U.S.C.A. §5038(d)

\* Jurisdiction has no mention or authorization in the statutes for fingerprinting juveniles.

<sup>1</sup> The authority to fingerprint is not explicit in the juvenile code, however, the statute permits the Department of Justice to transmit fingerprints of a minor to a law enforcement agency for the purpose of identification or requesting history of the minor from an agency.

<sup>2</sup>Authority to fingerprint is pursuant to court rule, not statute.

<sup>3</sup>Authority to fingerprint is not explicit in the juvenile code, however, the statute providing for expungement of juvenile records includes expungement of fingerprints.

<sup>4</sup>No statute specifically confers authority to fingerprint, however, the statute indicated governs dissemination of a child's fingerprint files.

<sup>5</sup>The statute authorizes courts to promulgate rules and standards governing the taking of fingerprints.

<sup>6</sup>The authority to fingerprint is not explicit in the juvenile code, but the statute does prohibit transmittal of fingerprints to the Adult Division of the Department of Corrections, the Department of State Police, or to the Federal Bureau of Investigation.

<sup>7</sup>Authority to fingerprint is pursuant to rule, not statute. Fingerprints are taken when the State requests that the juvenile be fingerprinted.

<sup>8</sup>Fingerprinting is statutorily authorized only for voluntary plans or programs, and all records are given immediately to the child's parent or guardian. R.I. GEN. LAWS § 42-28.7-1 (Cum. Supp. 1986).

<sup>9</sup>There is no specific authorization for fingerprinting juveniles, however, the purging statute includes fingerprints.

#### APPENDIX J

#### STATUTORY PROVISIONS FOR DESTRUCTION AND RETENTION OF FINGERPRINT RECORDS

	Method of L	Destruction		Circumstances	for Destruction		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Repository	Maintenance
			<u> </u>				Fingerprints	Maintenance	Reason Fingerprints
STATE	(1) Seal	(2) Destroy	(1) Nogative Latent	(2) No Petition Filed	(3) Favorable Outcome	(4) Clean Recorứ	Returned to Court	in Centrr: Repository	Sent To Central Repository
Vabama	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	x	x	X	X	x		X	felony offense*
laska**								X	felony offense
vrizona***								-	
Arkansas	· · · ·						X -		
California	<u>׆</u>							<u>x</u>	
Colorado	× × .								
Connecticut		xt							· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Delaware		×							-
District of Columbia	1	ļļ		·····					
lorida		X		<u> </u>	X			<u>×</u>	felony offense
Georgia		×	X	<u>×</u>	X	- X		2	Ħ
lawaii 3			·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				-	
daho		x4		ź				5	
llinois ndiana	<u>׆</u>	x6		x	<b>X</b>			<u> </u>	<u></u>
owa		Xb	X	<u> </u>	x x	× -			
Kansas	x†7	<u>├^</u>	<u> </u>	*	^	^		X	felony offense 8
Kentucky	 xt	<u> </u>						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
ouisiana	<u> </u>	xt							
Vaine		<u></u>						x	
Maryland***		1					-		
Massachusetts***	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				1				
Michigan***		1			1				
Minnesota***									
Mississippi		X†				-			
Missouri	׆								
Montana		x9				-			
Nebraska	xt	```						X	felony offense 10
Nevada		<u> </u>	<u>x</u>	X				x	felony offense*
New Hampshire***									
New Jersey		x 11							
New Mexico	xt						· · · ·		
New York		x 12		<u>x</u>	·····			X	tt
North Carolina*** North Dakota			<u> </u>						
Ohio		X	<u>x</u>	<b>X</b>	<u>×</u>	X			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Oklahoma	X	X	x		x		X	X	adjudicated or admits offense
Oregon		x	A	x	<u>x</u>			<u> </u>	aujourcated of during oriense
Pennsylvania	<u></u>	x		· ^	X			- X	felony or firearms offense
Rhode Island***		<u>├^</u>						<u> </u>	
South Carolina***	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u> </u>							
South Dakota	x†	†{						x	felony or misdemeanor of moral turpitude
Fennesse	~1	x 13	×	x	×	x			in the second and the moral all pillade
Texas		x	x	x	x	×			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Utah	x†				·····		X	·	
/ermont		X	X		X			x14	
Virginia	· · · ·	x			x 15				
Nashington		x 16							
West Virginia***	· · ·								
Wisconsin***					1				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Wyoming		X			x 17			X	felony offense
United States***									/

65

### APPENDIX J (cont.)

#### Footnotes

\* The juvenile must also be 14 years of age or older.

\*\* The juvenile must also be 16 years of age or older.

\*\*\* The jurisdiction has no mention or authorization in the statutes for the fingerprinting of juveniles.

† Sealing or expungement is pursuant to a general purging statute for juvenile records.

<sup>††</sup> The statute sets forth no limitations or qualifications for the forwarding of juvenile fingerprints to a central repository; however, there may be restrictions on the initial taking of fingerprints, for example, for felony offenses only.

<sup>1</sup> Although there is a statutory provision for the sealing of all juvenily records, a separate statute appears to make an exception for fingerprints. See D.C. CODE §§ 16-2333-2334.

<sup>2</sup> Fingerprints are forwarded only if needed in the interest of national security.§ 15-11-60(b).

<sup>3</sup> Fingerprinting standards are governed by court rule. See HAW. REV. STAT. § 571-74.

<sup>4</sup> If a child's detention for an offense is found to be unlawful, expungement is mandatory, unless the court orders otherwise after a hearing. IDAHO CODE § 16-1811(6) (Cum. Supp. 1987).

<sup>5</sup> Fingerprints may be transmitted to the Department of Corrections, Adult Division, or State Police, or Federal Bureau of Investigation if authorized by the court. ILL. REV. STAT. ch. 37, § 702-8(B) (Cum. Supp. 1987) (Smith-Hurd).

<sup>6</sup> If the individual has a record of prior arrests or has another charge pending, the fingerprints need not be destroyed. IND. CODE § 31-6-8-1.5(d)(4).

<sup>7</sup> Fingerprints must be sent to a state or federal repository if the juvenile is in custody for an offense which, if committed by an adult, would be a felony. KAN. STAT.§ 38-1611(c)(2). If the offense is not a felony, the juvenile's fingerprints

are sent only if authorized by the the judge having jurisdiction over the case. KAN. STAT. § 38-1611(c)(1).

<sup>8</sup> Id.

<sup>9</sup> Fingerprints must be destroyed at the time the individual reaches the age of majority, unless the judge orders them destroyed at an earlier date. MONT. REV. CODES ANN. § 41-5-304(2).

<sup>10</sup> Fingerprints may also be forwarded if the juvenile unlawfully terminated his commitment to a youth development center or is a runaway, and the fingerprints are needed for identification. NEB. REV. STAT. § 43-252(3).

<sup>11</sup> Latent fingerprints must be destroyed when the purpose for their use has been fulfilled. N.J. REV. STAT, 2A:4A-61(a)(1).

 $^{12}$  Fingerprints are destroyed only when the juvenile is not adjudicated delinquent for a felony act, or is 11 or 12 years of age and is not adjudicated for certain enumerated felony acts. N.Y. FAM. CT. ACT § 354.1(2)(McKinney).

 $^{13}$  Fingerprints are not destroyed if taken of an individual alleged to have committed an act which, if committed by an adult, would be a felony. TENN. CODE ANN. § 37-1-155.

<sup>14</sup> Fingerprints are sent to a central repository only in national security cases. VT. STAT. ANN. tit. 33 § 664(b).

<sup>15</sup> Fingerprints are also destroyed if the juvenile is less than 13 years of age and is adjudicated delinquent. VA. CODE § 16.1-299(C)(2).

 $^{16}$  If the juvenile's arrest for a felony offense is found to be unlawful, the court must order the fingerprints expunged, unless after a hearing, the court orders otherwise. WASH. REV. CODE ANN. § 13.04.130(2) (Cum. Supp. 1987).

17 If the juvenile is not adjudicated delinquent or a consent decree is entered for a felony act, the fingerprints are destroyed. WYO. STAT. § 14-6-201(b).

#### APPENDIX K

# STATUTORY PROVISIONS FOR DISSEMINATION AND ACCESS TO JUVENILE LAW ENFORCEMENT RECORDS

	OTHER LAW	[ [		ADULT COURT	SOCIAL WELFARE AGENCIES TO	MILITARY OR		CHILD/PARENT/
	ENFORCEMENT		(1) GUILT	(2) SENTENCING				
STATE	FOR INVESTIGATION	PROSECUTORS	PHASE	PHASE	FOR SUPERVISION	SECURITY	PAROLE	REPRESENTATIVE
Alabama 1	x			X	×		x	×
Alaska				1. A				x
Arizona	x 2	x 3						x 4
Arkansas	x 5							
Callfornia	X							1
Colorado	×			x		· ·	x	
Connecticut*		1						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Delaware				x 6				
District of Columbia	. 8				x		x	×
Florida	×				X	i	×	×
Georgia 7	×			x	X	X	×	x
Hawail	-							· · ·
Idaho								
Illinols	X -	x	x	x 8	X	x	X	i
Indiana	x	x 1	x 9	x	×			x
lowa	x	<sup>2</sup>	<u> </u>	x	× ×			× ×
Kansas	x	x		î	¥			×
Kentucky	î							<u> </u>
Louislana 11								
Maine 12								
Maryland								<u> </u>
Massachusetts	X	×				<u>×</u>		
Michigan*		{					<u></u>	
Minnesota 13								
Mississippi	×	X			*		x	- x
Missouri 14								ļ
Montana	X	<u>×</u>		X	¥		X	× ×
Nebraska*								
Nevada*								······
New Hampshire							X	<u>×</u>
New Jersey	X	X	x 15	· . X	X		X	<u>×</u>
New Mexico* 16								
New York 17				x				×
North Carolina		x	·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			x
North Dakota	X	X		×	<u>n</u>		x	X
Ohio	× ×			· · · ·				
Oklahoma*								
Oregon	×	<u>x</u>		<u> </u>				x
Pennsylvania	X	X		x	×	<u>x</u>	X	X
Rhode Island				19		X		x 20
South Carolina 22					-			
South Dakota 23				x				
Tennesse	X	x		x		x	x	X
Texas	X	X				×		x
Utah*					•			
Vermont	X	X -			X		×	
Virginia	x 24						x	x 25
Washington	X		x 26	x 27	X			x 28
West Virginia 29				x			x	XX
Wisconsin	×	x 31			1			x 32
Wyoming 34		~ ~ 1			*			<u> </u>
United States	X	x		×	X	x	x	X

# APPENDIX K (cont.)

			INSTITUTION TO WHICH		OTHERS WITH	
STATE	VICTIM	SCHOOL	COMMITTED	RESEARCH	INTEREST	OTHER
Alabama i			×		x	
Alaska		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				person /agency making investigation for court
Arizona	1		1	<b></b>		
Arkansas			1			
California		<del>,</del>		×	x	
Colorado	x				x	
Connecticut*						
Delaware		فيتقتص ومصيحت فتشب			í	
District of Columbia	}		×		x	
Florida			^		x	
Georgia 7			x	×	<u> </u>	
Hawali					x	official duties are concerned with juvenile statutes
daho		••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••			}^	Cineral Course are concerned with Intelline Statutes
llinols						h
Indiana	X		<u> </u>	<u>×</u>		
	×			X	X	
lowa	┉╧┷┯╤┯┯╤┷┥		X	x 10	X	
Kansaa			<u> </u>	X		
Kentucky				} <sup>_</sup>		
Louisiana 11					×	
Maine 12						criminal justice agencies where employment sought
Maryland			X	<u> </u>	X	
Massachusetts			X			
Michigan*						
Minnesota 13						
Mississippi	X	<u>.</u>		X	x	
Missouri 14						
Montana			X		X	
Nebraska*						
Nevada*						
New Hampshire			X		x	presumption of dissemination for enumerated felonies
New Jersey	X	X	X		X	
New Mexico* 16						
New York 17						
North Carolina						
North Dakota	Î		X			
Ohio	i i					
Oklahoma*						
Oregon	x 18					
Pennsylvania			x		x	identification and disposition if for enumerated feloni
Rhode Island	21					
South Carolina 22						
South Dakota 23			<b> </b>		<u> </u>	
Tennesse		······	×		×	
Texas			<u> </u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u> </u> ^	<u> </u>
Utah <sup>e</sup>			}		}	<u> </u>
Vermont			<u> </u>	h		h
	×		×		<u> </u>	
Virginia		<del></del>	<u> </u>		×	
Washington	×		×	<u>X</u>	<u> </u>	
West Virginia 29			×	X		
	x 33	X	1		1	
Wisconsin Wyoming 34	<u> </u>					

8.9

#### APPENDIX K (cont.)

#### Footnotes

\* The jurisdiction has no mention or specific authorization regarding dissemination and access to juvenile law enforcement records.

<sup>1</sup> By rule, the local courts may adopt rules to enforce the confidentiality of juvenile law enforcement records. ALA. R. JUV. P. 19 (1977).

 $^2$  Arrest records which are in the possession of the juvenile court must be released upon request to the indicated party. ARIZ, REV. STAT. § 8-208B.

<sup>3</sup> *Id*.

<sup>4</sup> Id.

<sup>5</sup> The statutory provision covers only fingerprints and photographs. ARK. STAT. ANN. § 45-419.

 $^{6}$  The records may also be released for the purpose of determining conditions of release or bail. DEL. CODE tit. 10, § 930.

<sup>7</sup> Inspection by the indicated parties is permitted only with the consent of the court unless the interests of national security. GA. CODE § 15-11-59.

<sup>8</sup> Access is also permitted for the purpose of setting bail. ILL. REV. STAT. ch. 37, § 702-8(A)(3)(b) (Cum. Supp. 1987) (Smith-Hurd).

<sup>9</sup> The records may be used to impeach the record subject if he is a witness or to discredit the subject's reputation if he places it in evidence. IND. CODE § 260.161 Subd. 3.

<sup>10</sup> Access is permitted with a court order. IOWA CODE § 232.149(4)(a).

<sup>11</sup> Records of arrests, convictions, or adjudications may be released if the individual was previously adjudicated delinquent and is subsequently arrested or charged with any crime or delinquent act. Records may also be released if the juvenile is adjudicated for felony act, a misdemeanor against the person, or a misdemeanor involving a dangerous weapon. LA. CODE JUV. PRO., Art. 123(C).

<sup>12</sup> Access is permitted only with the consent of the court. ME. REV. STAT. tit. 15, § 3308(5) (Cum. Supp. 1986).

<sup>13</sup> Records are not open to public inspection except by order of the juvenile court. MINN. STAT. § 260.161 Subd. 3.

<sup>14</sup> Inspection is permitted by court order only. MO. REV. STAT. § 211.321 (Supp. 1983).

15 With court approval, a party in a subsequent legal proceeding may have access to the individual's records for the purpose of impeaching the individual. N.J. REV. STAT. § 2A:4A-60(c)(4).

<sup>16</sup> The juvenile records which are closed to the public are enumerated in the statutes of New Mexico; *not* included in the list are law enforcement records and legal records in delinquency proceedings. N.M. STAT. ANN. § 32-1-44.

<sup>17</sup> Access by the indicated parties requires a court order. N.Y. FAM. CT. ACT § 381.3(2) (McKinney).

<sup>18</sup> Access is permitted only with court order. OR. REV. STAT. § 419.584(4)(g).

<sup>19</sup> If the finding of delinquency is based upon an act which would be a felony if committed by an adult, the court record may be used for sentencing recommendations. R.I. GEN. LAWS § 14-1-40 (Cum. Supp. 1986).

20 Access is permitted by court order. R.I. GEN. LAWS § 14-1-64.

<sup>21</sup> Upon the victim's motion, the court may release the name and address of the juvenile for the purpose of allowing the victim to commence a civil action. R.I. GEN. LAWS § 14-1-66 (Cum. Supp. 1986).

### APPENDIX K (cont.)

#### Footnotes

 $^{22}$  Records are not open to public inspection, but are open to other governmental agencies when approved by the court. S.C. CODE § 20-7-600(d) (eff. 5/26/87).

 $^{23}$  The records shall not be disclosed to the public except by order of the court, or where held for criminal proceedings, or as indicated for sentencing. S.D. COMPILED LAWS § 26-8-19.5.

 $^{24}$  A court order is required for the release of the records to the indicated party. VA. CODE § 16.1-301(B)(4).

 $^{25}$  Access is permitted by order of the court. VA. CODE § 16.1-301(B)(4).

<sup>26</sup> Access is subject to the rules of discovery and other rules of law applicable to adult criminal prosecutions and investigations. WASH. REV. CODE ANN. § 13.50.050(6). 27 Id.

28 Id.

<sup>29</sup> Disclosure to the parties indicated is by court order only. W. VA. CODE § 49-5-17(d).

 $^{30}$  Access is pursuant to statutory discovery provisions. WIS. STAT. ANN, § 48.293 (West).

31 Id.

32 Id.

<sup>33</sup> The records are available upon petition to the court. WIS. STAT. ANN.§ 48.396(5) (West).

 $^{34}$  The records are not open to public inspection without the written consent of the court. WYO. STAT. § 14-6-240(d).

# APPENDIX L

# SEALING JUVENILE RECORDS

State	Court Statutory Citation Only	Court and Records Records	Police	Access
Alabama*	ALA. CODE §12-15-103		X	court order
Alaska**	ALASKA STAT. §47.10.090	X		court order
Arizona***				
Arkansas***		-		
California	CAL. WELF. & INST. CODE			
	§781 (Cum. Supp. 1987)		X	court order
Coloradot	COLO. REV. STAT. §19-1-111		X	court order
Connecticut***				
Delaware***				
District of Columbia	D.C. CODE §16-2335		x	court order
Florida	FLA. STAT. §39.12	X		child care employment
Georgia	GA. CODE §15-11-60		X	no mention
Hawaii***				
Idaho†	IDAHO CODE §16-1816A		Хə	court order
Illinois***				
Indiana***			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
lowa	IOWA CODE §232,150 (Cum. Supp.		X	court order
	1987)			
Kansas†	KAN. STAT. §38-1610		X	court order
Kentucky†	KY. REV. STAT. §610.330 (Baldwin)		X	
Louisiana***				-
Maine***				
Maryland	MD. CTS. & JUD. PROC. CODE	X		court order
	ANN. §3-828		•	
Massachusetts***				

# APPENDIX L (cont.)

State	Statutory Citation	Court Records Only	Court and Police Records	Access
Michigan***				
Minnesota***				
Mississippi	MISS. CODE ANN. §43-21-263		x1	court order
Missouri	MO. REV. STAT. §211.321		X	no mention
Montana**	MONT. REV. CODES ANN. §41-5-604		X	no mention
Nebraska	NEB. REV. STAT. §43-2,105		XX	court order
Nevada**	NEV. REV. STAT. §62.275		X	court order
New Hampshire**	N.H. REV. STAT. ANN. §169-B:35		X	court order
	(Cum. Supp. 1986)			
New Jersey*	N.J. REV. STAT. §2A:4A-62		X	court order
New Mexico*2	N.M. STAT. ANN. §32-1-45		X	court order
New York	N.Y. FAM. CT. ACT §§375.13		X	§375.1 — respondent or
	and 375.2 <sup>4</sup>			his agent
North Carolina				
North Dakota	N.D. CENT. CODE §27-20-53(1)	X		no mention
	(Supp. 1985)	l		
Ohio	OHIO REV. CODE ANN. §2151.358		x5	no mention
	(Supp. 1986)	-		
Oklahoma***				
Oregon***	-			
Pennsylvania***				
Rhode Island***		1		
South Carolina***				
South Dakota	S.D. COMPILED LAWS ANN.		×	court order
	§26-8-57.1	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	

### APPENDIX L (cont.)

State	Statutory Citation	Court Records Only	Court and Police Records	Access
Tennessee***				
Texas	TEX. FAM. CODE tit. 3, §51.16		X	court order
Utaht	UTAH CODE ANN. §78-3a-56		X	court order
Vermont†	VT. STAT. ANN. tit. 33, §665		X	court order
Virginia**	VA. CODE §16.1-306	X		sentencing courts
Washington*	WASH. REV. CODE ANN. §13.50.050		X	court order
West Virginia**†	W.VA. CODE §49-5-17		x	court order
Wisconsin***				
Wyoming	WYO. STAT.§14-6-239	X	- -	court order
United States***		-		

\*A subsequent delinquency adjudication or conviction nullifies the sealing order.

2 A subsequent adjudication for a child in need of supervision may also, in the judge's discretion, result in nullification of the sealing order.

<sup>3</sup> Sealing provisions if the proceedings are terminated in favor of the juvenile.

<sup>4</sup> Sealing provisions if a finding of juvenile delinquency is made.

<sup>5</sup> When a record is sealed by the court, it must be destroyed by all other governmental bodies.

<sup>\*\*</sup>Sealing is automatic when statutorily imposed conditions are met.

<sup>\*\*\*</sup>Sealing of juvenile records is not statutorily mandated in this jurisdiction.

<sup>†</sup>Statutory terminology refers to the procedures as "expungement" or "expungement and sealing"; the procedure within the context of this study is construed as "sealing."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The statute authorizes the court to order the sealing of records "involving children"; it is assumed that such language is broad enough to include law enforcement records.

# APPENDIX M

# EXPUNGEMENT OF JUVENILE RECORDS

State	Statutory Citation	Court Records Only	Court and Police Records
Alabama	ALA. CODE §12-15-103		×
Alaska**			
Arizona	ARIZ. REV. STAT. §8-247 (1986 Supp.)		×
Arkansas	ARK. STAT. ANN. §45-441.1	X	
California	CAL. WELF. & INST. CODE		
	§781 (Cum. Supp. 1987)		x1
Colorado*			
Connecticut <sup>2</sup>	CONN. GEN. STAT. ANN. §46b-146		X
	(Supp. 1986) (West)		
Delaware	DEL. CODE tit. 10, §930		X
District of Columbia*			
Florida	FLA. STAT. §39.12	X	
Georgia*		· · · · ·	
Hawaii*			
ldaho*			
Illinois	ILL. REV. STAT. ch. 37 §702-11		×
	(Cum. Supp. 1987) (Smith-Hurd)		
Indiana	IND. CODE §31-6-8-2		x <sup>3</sup>
lowa*			1
Kansas*			
Kentucky			
Louisiana	LA. CODE JUV. PRO., Art. 124-128		
Maine*			
Maryland*			
Massachusetts <sup>4</sup>			
Michigan*			
Minnesota	MINN. STAT. §§260.194-260.195	х <sup>5</sup>	
Mississippi	MISS. CODE ANN. §§43-21-265 and		×
	67-3-70 (Cum. Supp. 1986) <sup>6</sup>	<u></u>	
Missouri	MO. REV. STAT. §211.321	x7	1
Montana	MONT. REV. CODES ANN. §41-5-604	<u>~</u>	X
Nebraska*	MONTHEY. CODEC ANN. 941-5-004		
Nevada*			
New Hampshire* <sup>8</sup>		an a	
New Jersey <sup>*9</sup> New Mexico*			

#### APPENDIX M (cont.)

۲۰۰۳ - ۲۰۰۳ - ۲۰۰۳ - ۲۰۰۲ - ۲۰۰۲ - ۲۰۰۲ - ۲۰۰۲ - ۲۰۰۲ - ۲۰۰۲ - ۲۰۰۲ - ۲۰۰۲ - ۲۰۰۲ - ۲۰۰۲ - ۲۰۰۲ - ۲۰۰۲ - ۲۰۰۲	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
State	Statutory Citation	Court Records Only	Court and Police Records
New York	N.Y. FAM. CT. ACT. §§375.3 <sup>10</sup>		x <sup>11</sup>
North Carolina	N.C. GEN. STAT. §7A-676		X
North Dakota	N.D. CENT. CODE §27-20-54		x
	(Supp. 1985)		
Ohio	OHIO REV. CODE ANN. §2151.358		x12
	(Supp. 1986)		
Oklahoma	OKLA. STAT. ANN., tit. 10, §1506		X
	(Cum. Supp. 1987)		
Oregon	OR. REV. STAT. §§419.800-419.839		X٠
Pennsylvania	18 PA. CONS. STAT. ANN. §9123		X
	(1986 Pa. Legis. Serv.)		
Rhode Island*			
South Carolina	S.C. CODE §20-7-1335 (eff. 5/26/87)		X
South Dakota*			
Tennessee*			
Texas	TEX. FAM. CODE tit. 3, §51.16		X
Utah <sup>13</sup>	UTAH CODE ANN. §78-3a-57	x14	
Vermont*			
Virginia	VA. CODE §16.1-306	X	
Washington*	WASH. REV. CODE ANN. §13.50.050		X
West Virginia*			
Wisconsin*15			
Wyoming	WYO. STAT.§14-6-241		×
United States*			

\* Expungement (destruction) is not statutorily mandated in this jurisdiction.

<sup>1</sup>Pursuant to the California statute, unless for good cause, the court must order sealed court records destroyed at age 38 if the individual was adjudicated for a crime. Others in possession of sealed records *may* destroy the records five years after the record was ordered sealed.

<sup>2</sup>Expungement orders are called "erasure orders" in Connecticut. Expungement is automatic if the individual is dismissed as delinquent.

<sup>3</sup>The records may either be destroyed or given to the record subject.

#### APPENDIX M (cont.)

#### Footnotes

<sup>4</sup>By caselaw, courts have the authority to order expungement of police records if the utility of the records for law enforcement purposes is likely to be minimal or non-existent. *Police Comm'r of Boston v. Municipal Court of Dorchester Dist.*, 374 Mass. 640, 374 N.E.2d 272 (1978).

<sup>5</sup>Expungement authority is limited to (1) the adjudication of a child as an habitual truant, runaway, or juvenile petty offender, MINN. STAT. § 260.194 Subd. 2; and (2) the adjudication of a child as a juvenile alcohol or controlled substance offender, MINN. STAT. § 260.195 Subd. 7. In either case, the adjudication may be expunged at any time the court deems advisable.

<sup>6</sup>A special expungement provision is included in the alcoholic beverages chapter regarding those under the age of 21 convicted of purchasing light wine or beer, which is a misdemeanor under Mississippi law.

<sup>7</sup>The statute provides for the destruction of all social histories, records and information other than the official court file; the official court file and law enforcement records may be sealed. See Appendix L.

<sup>8</sup>Expungement provisions are limited to the automatic expungement at age 18 for records pertaining to children in need of services. N.H. REV. STAT. ANN. § 169-D: 25 (Cum. Supp. 1986).

 $^{9}$ The expungement of juvenile records is covered by the provisions of chapter 52 of title 2C of the New Jersey statutes; however, expungement is defined as the "extraction and isolation" of records, and therefore does fall within the parameters of this summary. N.J. STAT. ANN. § 2C:52-2-2C:52-4.1 (West). <sup>10</sup>The New York statute recognizes the inherent authority of the court to order expungement of court records.

<sup>11</sup>By caselaw, the courts may order the expungement of law enforcement records. See, e.g., Matter of Todd H., 49 N.Y.2d 1022, 429 N.Y.S.2d 401, 406 N.E.2d 1338 (1980).

<sup>12</sup>Pursuant to the expungement statute, if the applicant for expungement does not waive his right to bring a civil action based upon the arrest, the court must retain a copy of all records pertaining to the case, except fingerprints, until the applicant executes a written waiver, or until the statute of limitations expires, or until any pending litigation based upon the arrest is terminated.

<sup>13</sup>Although the sealing provisions are referred to as "expungement", there are also limited provisions for the destruction of records pursuant to Utah law. See infra note 14.

<sup>14</sup>The limitations on the destruction of records in Utah are great and effectively swallow the provision. Records which may not be expunged include the petition, summons, findings, orders, decrees, and any other records the court selects.

<sup>15</sup>Courts are specifically prohibited, by caselaw, from ordering the expungement of juvenile law enforcement records. *See, e.g., In Interest of E.C.,* 130 Wis.2d 376, 387 N.W.2d 72 (1986).

I Crime and OI	der Americans	
Information Packa	age	
age groups?	y to be victims of crime than younger for certain crimes more frequently	
<ul> <li>Are offenders in crimes again strangers or nonstrangers cor</li> </ul>		
A new information package available from the Justice Statistics Clearinghouse answers these and other questions about crime and the elderly. Drawing from national sources for crime statistics— including the BJS National Crime Survey, the FBI Uniform Crime Reports, and the BJS National Corrections Reporting Program—the 34-page package discuss- es the types of crimes in which older Americans are most likely to be victims and offenders, and the types of crime prevention they use. As the elderly population has grown, so has concern about the effects of crime on this age group.	Population statistics indicate that older Americans are fast becoming a large segment of the total U.S. population. In 1985, Americans 60 years and older totaled 39.5 million—a 21-percent in- crease over the past 10 years. This package also includes the names and addresses of associations and organizations that are sources of informa- tion about crime and older Americans and a list of further readings. Crime and Older Americans costs only \$10.00.	
Please send me copies of the Informa- tion Package on Crime and Older Americans (NCJ 104569) at \$10.00 each.	Method of payment	
Name:	Check payable to NCJRS	
Organization:	Money order payable to NCJRS	
Address:	Please bill my	
	NCJRS deposit account	
City, State, ZIP:	#	
Telephone:	Credit card 🗌 Visa 🗌 MasterCard	
Please detach this form and mail it, with payment, to: Justice Statistics Clearinghouse	# Exp. date:	
Dept. F–AGK Box 6000 Rockville, MD 20850	Signature:	

# A Complete Picture of Crime in the United States

# Report to the Nation on Crime and Justice on Slides!

Now you can take data from *Report to the Nation* on the road. The Bureau of Justice Statistics (BJS) has converted the book's charts, maps, and graphs to slides. The slides are designed for showing at public and community forums, conferences, and in classrooms and training academies.

More than 125 slides present a statistical portrait of crime and justice in the United States. Each slide is coded for ready reference to the full text

☐ YES! Send me the slide presentation of the *Report to the Nation on Crime and Justice*—a comprehensive overview of crime and the criminal justice system.

My User Identification Number is \_\_\_\_\_\_ (you will find your number on the mailing label affixed to this Report.)

Method of Payment

Payment of \$30 enclosed check money order
(Make payable to NCJRS)
Please bill my:
NCJRS Deposit Account
#
VISA MasterCard
# Exp. date
Signature
Government Purchase Order
# (Add \$1.95 for processing)
Ship to:
Name:
Organization:
Address:
City, State, ZIP:
Telephone: ()

of the second and most current edition of the *Report*, so a full presentation can be easily created.

Slide topics highlight criminal justice issues of the 1980s—How much crime is there? Who does it strike? When? Where? Who is the typical offender? What happens to convicted criminals? What are the costs of justice? Who pays?

The slides span the gap between researchers and the people who need answers about crime.

ORDER TODAY! Just fill in and return this form with payment to: Justice Statistics Clearinghouse, Department F-AHY, Box 6000, Rockville, MD 20850.



# Second edition

# Report to the Nation on Crime and Justice

**W from the Bureau of Justice Statistics** 

A comprehensive statistical portrait that answers—

How much crime is there?

Whom does it strike?

When?

Where?

Who is the typical offender?

What is the government's response to crime?

How differently are juveniles handled from adults?

What happens to convicted offenders?

What are the costs of justice and who pays?

For-

The general public Policymakers The media Criminal justice practitioners Researchers

Educators in our high schools and colleges

134 easy-to-read pages of text, tables, graphics, and maps

that *update* the first edition *plus* new topics



News magazine format

Color graphics and maps

Indexed

To order the *Report to the Nation on Crime* and Justice, NCJ-105506, write to: Justice Statistics Clearinghouse Department F-AHU Box 6000 Rockville, MD 20850

For bulk orders, contact the U.S. Government Printing Office at 202–783–3238. The GPO Stock Number is 027–000–01295–7.

#### **Bureau of Justice Statistics** reports

and a function of the second se

#### (revised September 1988)

Call toll-free 800-732-3277 (local 301-251-5500) to order BJS reports, to be added to one of the BJS mailing lists, or to speak to a reference specialist in statistics at the Justice Statistics Clearinghouse, National Criminal Justice Reference Service, Box 6000, Rockville, MD 20850. BJS maintains the following mailing lists:

- Drugs and crime data (new) White-collar crime (new) National Crime Survey (annual) Corrections (annual)

- 0
- Corrections (annual) Juvenile corrections (annual) Courts (annual) Privacy and security of criminal history information and information policy Federal statistics (an-ual) BJS bulleting and special reports (approximately twice a month) Sourcebook of Criminal Justice Statistics (annual) Ó
- ø
- a

Single copies of reports are free; use NCJ number to order. Postage and handling are charged for bulk orders of single reports. For single copies of multiple titles, up to 10 titles are free; 11-40 titles \$10; more than 40, \$20; libraries call for special rates.

Public-use tapes of BJS data sets and other criminal justice data are available from the Criminal Justice Archive and Information Network, P.O. Box 1248, Ann Arbor, MI 48106 (313-763-5010).

#### **National Crime Survey**

Criminal victimization in the U.S.: 1986 (final report), NCJ-111456, 9/88 1985 (final report), NCJ-104273, 5/87 1984 (final report), NCJ-10425, 5/86 1983 (final report), NCJ-96459, 10/85

BJS special reports: Motor vehicle theft, NCJ-109978, 3/88 Elderly victims, NCJ 107676, 11/87 Violent crime trends, NCJ-107217,

11/87

11/87 Robbery victims, NCJ-104638, 4/87 Violent crime by strangers and nonstrangers, NCJ-103702, 1/87 Preventing domestic violence against women, NCJ-10237, 8/86 Crime prevention measures, NCJ-100438, 3/86

The use of weapons in committing crimes, NCJ-99643, 1/86 Reporting crimes to the police, NCJ-99432, 12/85

Locating city, suburban, and rural crime, NCJ-99535, 12/85 The risk of violent crime, NCJ-97119,

5/85

The economic cost of crime to victims, NCJ-93450, 4/84 Family violence, NCJ-93449, 4/84

BJS bulletins:

Households touched by crime, 1987, CJ-111240, 5/88

Criminal victimization 1986, NCJ 106989, 10/87 Households touched by crime, 1986,

- NCJ-105289, 5/87 The crime of rape, NCJ-96777, 3/85 Household burgls:y, NCJ-96021, 1/85 Violent crawe by strangers, NCJ-80829, 4/82
- Crime and the elderly, NCJ-79614, 1/82 Measuring crime, NCJ-75710, 2/81

The scasonality of crime victimization, NCJ-111033, 6/88 Series crimes: Report of a field test (BJS

Series crimes: Heport of a field test (BJS technical report), NCJ-104615, 4/87 Crime and older Americans information package, NCJ-104569, \$10, 5/87 Lifetime likelihood of victimization, (BJS technical report), NCJ-104274, 3/87

#U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE:1988-241-693:80036

- Teenage victims, NCJ-103138, 12/86 Response to screening questions in the Notional Crime Survey (BJS technical report), NCJ-97624, 7/85
- Victimization and fear of crime: World perspectives. NCJ-93872, 1/85 The National Crime Survey: Working
- pepers, vol. I: Current and historical perspectives, NCJ-75374, 8/82 vol. II: Methodological studies, NCJ-90307, 12/84

#### Corrections

- BJS bulletins and special reports: Capital punishment 1987, NCJ-111939,
- 7/88 //do Drug use and crime: State prison inmate survey, 1986, NCJ-111940, 7/88 Prisoners in 1987, NCJ-110331, 4/88 Timed strived in prison and on parole 1984, NCJ-108544, 1/88
- NCJ-109926, 1/88 Imprisonment in four countries, NCJ-
- 103967, 2/87 Population density in State prisons, NCJ-103204, 12/86
- State and Federal prisoners, 1925-85, 102494, 11/86
- Prison admissions and releases, 1983,
- NCJ-100582, 3/86 Examining recidivism, NCJ-96501, 2/85 Returning to prison, NCJ-95700, 11/84 Time served in prison, NCJ-93924, 6/84
- Historical statistics on prisoners in State
- Historical statistics on prisoners in t and Federal institutions, yearend 1925-86, NCJ-111098, 6/88 Correctional populations in the U.S. 1985, NCJ-103957, 2/88
- 1984 census of State adult correctional facilities, NCJ-105585, 7/87
- Historical corrections statistics in the
- U.S., 1850-1984, NCJ-102529, 4/87 1979 survey of inmates of State correctional

facilities and 1979 census of State correctional facilities:

- BJS special reports: The prevalence of imprisonment, NCJ-93657, 7/85
- Career patterns in crime, NCJ-88672, 6/83
- BJS bulletins: Prisoners and drugs, NCJ-87575,
- 3/83 Prisoners and alcohol, NCJ-86223.
- 1/83 Prisons and prisoners, NCJ-80697,
- 2/82 Veterans in prison, NCJ-79232, 11/81

1980, NCJ-97684, 10/85 1979, NCJ-86482, 5/84 Felony laws of the 50 States and the District of Columbia, 1986, NCJ-105066, 2/89, 514.70 State court model statistical dictionary, Supplement, NCJ-98326, 9/85 1 st a edition, NCJ-62320, 9/80 State court organization, 1980, NCJ-Census of jails and survey of jail inmates: BJS builetins and special reports: Drunk driving, NCJ-109945, 2/88 Jail inmates, 1986, NCJ-107123,

- 10/87 The 1983 jail census, NCJ-95536,
- 11/84
- Ur crowded jalls: A national plight, NCJ-111346, 8/88 Jali Inmates, 1985, NCJ-105586, 7/87 Census of jalls, 1978: Data for Individual jalls, vois I-IV, Northeast, N. Central, South, West, NCJ-72279-72282, 12/81 Profile of lail inmates, 1978, NC I-
- Criminal justice information policy:
- Profile of Jail Inmates, 1978, NCJ-65412, 2/81
- Parole and probation
- **BJS** bulletins:
  - Probation and parole 1986, NCJ-108012.12/87
    - Probation and parole 1985, NCJ-103683, 1/87
  - Setting prison terms, NCJ-76218, 8/83 BJS special reports:
  - Time served in prison and on parole, 1984, NCJ-108544, 1/88
  - Recidivism of young parolees, NCJ-104916, 5/87
  - Parole in the U.S., 1980 and 1981, NCJ-87387, 3/86
  - Characteristics of persons entering parole during 1978 and 1979, NCJ-87243, 5/83
  - Characteristics of the parole population, 1978, NCJ-66479, 4/81

Children in custody

1.10.20

Public juvenile facilities, 1985 tin), NCJ-102457, 10/86 1982-83 census of juvenile detention and correctional facilities, NCJ-101636, 9/86

A STATE OF THE STATE OF

Computer crime

NCJ-92650, 2/84

crime, NC-I-83736, 9/82

BJS special reports:

84049.9/82

Electronic fund transfer fraud, NCJ-96666, 3/85

Electronic fund transfer and crime,

Electronic fund transfer systems fraud,

NCJ-100461, 4/86 Computer security techniques, NCJ-

Electronic fund transfer systems and

Criminal justice resource manual, NCJ-61550, 12/79

Federal justice statistics

The Federal civil justice system (BJS

bulletin), NCJ-104769, 7/87 Employer perceptions of workplace crime, NCJ-101851, 7/87, \$6

Federal offenses and offenders

BJS special reports: Drug law violators, 1980-86, NCJ-

Pretrial release and detention: The Ball Reform Act of 1984,

Bank robbery, NCJ-94463, 8/84 Federal drug law violators, NCJ-

Federal justice statistics, NCJ-

BJS builetins and special reports:

NCJ-95785, 12/84

NCJ-109929, 2/88 White-collar crime, NCJ-106876, 9/87

Pretrial release and misconduct, NCJ-

International crime rates, NCJ-110776,

Tracking offenders, 1984, NCJ-109686,

Tracking offenders: White-collar crime, NCJ-102867, 11/86

Police employment and expenditure, NCJ-100117, 2/86

Tracking offenders: The child victim,

Sourcebook of criminal justice statistics.

Second edition, NCJ-105506, 6/88 Technical appendix, NCJ-112011,

Drugs & crime data: Rolodex card, 800-666-3332, 8/88 Dat≽ center & clearinghouse brochure, BC-000092, 2/88

A guide to BJS data, NCJ-109956. 2/88

Proceedings of the third workshop on law

and justice statistics, NCJ-112230,

BJS data report, 1987, NCJ-110643,

1986 directory of automated criminal justice information sytems, NCJ-

Justice Information systems, NGJ-102260, 1/87, 520 Publications of BJS, 1971-84: A topical bibliography, TB030012, 10/86, \$17.50 BJS publications: Selected library in microfiche, 1971-84, PR030012, 10/86, \$203 domestic

National survey of crime severity, NCJ-96017, 10/85 Criminal victimization of District of Columbia residents and Capitol Hill

employees, 1982-83, NCJ-97982; Summary, NCJ-98567, 9/85

How to gain access to BJS data (brochure), BC-000022, 9/84

See order form

on last page

BJS annual report, fiscal 1987, NCJ-109928, 4/88

A guide to BJS data, Nou-roscol, L, Criminal justice microcomputer guide and software catalog, NCJ-112178,

1987, NCJ-111612, 9/88 Report to the Nation on crime and

BJS telephone contacts '87, NCJ-102909, 12/86

111763, 6/88

96132, 1/85

92692.2/84

80814, 3/82

BJS bulletins:

General

5/88

1/88

justice:

8/88

5/88

8/88

Expert witness manual, NCJ-77927, 9/81, \$11.50

- Expenditure and employment **BJS bulletins**
- Justice expenditure and employment: 1985, NCJ-104460, 3/87 1983, NCJ-101776, 7/86 1982, NCJ-98327, 8/85
- Justice expenditure and employment: Extracts, 1962 and 1983, NCJ-106629,
- 8/88 Extracts, 1980 and 1981, NCJ-96007,
- 1971-79, NCJ-92596, 11/84

#### Courts

The second second second second

- BJS bulletins: Criminal defense for the poor, 1986, NCJ-112919, 9/88
- State felony courts and felony laws, NCJ-106273, 8/87
- The growth of appeals: 1973-83 trends, NCJ-96381, 2/85
- Case filings in State courts 1983, NCJ-95111, 10/84
- BJS special reports:
- Felony case-processing time, NCJ-101985, 8/86
- Felony sentencing in 18 local jurisdic-tions, NCJ-97681, 6/85
- The prevalence of guilty pleas, NCJ-
- The prevalence of guilty pleas, NCJ-96018, 12/84 Sentencing practices in 13 States, NCJ-95399, 10/84 Criminal defense systems: A national survey, NCJ-94630, 8/84
- Habeas corpus, NCJ-92948, 3/84 State court caseload statistics, 1977 and 1981, NCJ-87587, 2/83
- Sentencing outcomes in 28 felony courts, NC-I-105743, 8/87

State court organization 1980, NCJ-

Compendium of State privacy and security

1987 overview, NCJ-111097, 9/88 1987 full report (1,497 pages, microfiche only), NCJ-113021, 9/88

Automated fingerprint identification systems: Technology and policy issues, NCJ-104342, 4/87

Data quality policies and procedures; Proceedings of a BJS/SEARCH conference, NCJ-101849, 12/86 Crime control and criminal records

(BJS special report), NCJ-99176,

State criminal records repositorles (BJS technical report), NCJ-99017,

Data quality of criminal history records, NCJ-98079, 10/85

NCJ-98079, 10/85 Intelligence and investigative records, NCJ-95787, 4/85 Victim/witness legislation: An over-view, NCJ-94365, 12/34 Information policy and crime control strategies (SEARCH/BJS conference), NCJ-93926, 10/84 Besearch access to criminal justice

Research access to criminal justice

data, NCJ-84154, 2/83 Privacy and juvenile justice records,

NCJ-84152, 1/83

Criminal justice "hot" files,

NCJ-101850, 12/86

76711,7/82

legislation:

10/85

10/85

Privacy and security

- National criminal defense systems study, NCJ-94702, 10/86
- The prosecution of felony arrests: 1982, NCJ-106990, 5/88 1981, NCJ-101380, 9/86, \$7.60 1980, NCJ-97684, 10/85

To be added to any BJS mailing list, please copy or cut out this page, fill in, fold, stamp, and mail to the Justice Statistics Clearinghouse/NCJRS.

You will receive an annual renewal card. If you do not return it, we must drop you from the mailing list.

To order copies of **recent BJS reports**, check here □ and circle items you want to receive on other side of this sheet.

#### Name: Title: Organization:

Street or box:

}

City, State, Zip: *Daytime* phone number: Criminal justice interest:

Put your organization and title here if you used home address above:

Please put me on the mailing list for-

- Justice expenditure and employment reports—annual spending and staffing by Federal/State/ local governments and by function (police, courts, etc.)
- White-collar crime—data on the processing of Federal whitecollar crime cases
- Privacy and security of criminal history information and information policy—new legislation; maintaining and releasing intelligence and investigative records; data quality issues
- Federal statistics—data describing Federal case processing, from investigation through prosecution, adjudication, and corrections

- Juvenile corrections reports juveniles in custody in public and private detention and correctional facilities
- □ (Drugs and crime data—sentencing and time served by drug offend-

New! ers, drug use at time of crime by jail inmates and State prisoners,

- and other quality data on drugs, crime, and law enforcement
- BJS bulletins and special reports —timely reports of the most current justice data
- Prosecution and adjudication in State courts — case processing from prosecution through court disposition, State felony laws, felony sentencing, criminal defense

FOLD, SEAL WITH TAPE, AND STAMP -----

- Corrections reports—results of sample surveys and censuses of jails, prisons, parole, probation, and other corrections data
- National Crime Survey reports the only regular national survey of crime victims
- Sourcebook of Criminal Justice Statistics (annual)—broad-based data from 150 + sources (400 + tables, 100 + figures, index)
- Send me a form to sign up for NIJ Reports (issued free 6 times a year), which abstracts both private and government criminal justice publications and lists conferences and training sessions in the field.

**U.S. Department of Justice** Bureau of Justice Statistics Washington, D.C. 20531

Place 1st-class stamp here

Justice Statistics Clearinghouse/NCJRS U.S. Department of Justice User Services Department 2 Box 6000 Rockville, MD 20850

# Drugs & Crime Data

Data Conter & Clearing: ane for Dates & Crime



#### The worldwide drug business

Cultivation & production Foreign Domestic

Distribution Export Transchipment Import into U.S.

Finance Money laundering Profits

#### The fight against drugs

Entonement Border interdiction Investigation Saizure & forfeiture Presecution

Consumption reduction

Prevention Education

Trentrati

.

Consequences of doing use

Alasse

Addice of Overdose Death

Crime While on drugs For drug money Trafficking

Impact on justice system

#### Social disruption

The Data Center & Clearinghouse for Drugs & Crime is funded by the Bureau of Justice Assistance and directed by the Bureau of Justice Statistics of the U.S. Department of Justice



One free phone call can give you access to a growing data base on drugs & crime

The new Data Center & Clearinghouse for Trugs & Onme is managed by the Bureau of Justice Statistics To serve you the center will --

 Respond to your requests for drugs and crime data

 Let you know about new drugs and orime data reports.

Send you report: on drugs and crime

 Conduct special inbliggraphic scarches for you on specific drugs and crime topics.

 Refer you to data on epidemiolegy, prevention, and treatment of cultistance abuse at the National Clearingbore for Alcohol and Drug, information of the Alcohol Drug Abuse, and Mental Health Administration.

 Publish and cial reports on subjects such as assets forfeiture and seizure, economic costs of drug-related crime, drugs and violence, drug laws of the 50 States, drug abuse and corrections, and innovative law enforcement reactions to drugs and crime.

 Prepare a comprehensive, concise report that will bring together a rich array of data to trace and quantify the full flow of illicit drugs from cultivation to consequences.



Call now and speak to a specialist in drugs & crime statistics:



*Or write* to the Data Center & Clearinghouse for Drugs & Crime 1600 Research Boulevard Rockville, MD 20850